
Meeting of:  Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday, 20th September, 2017
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth - (Room 108B), Training and Conference 

Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal or 
personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of those 
interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them. 

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business which, 
by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 4

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
on 19th July 2017.  

6.  ROCHDALE SAFER COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 

The Head of Neighbourhood Services to report 

7.  PERFORMANCE MONITORING 2016/17 REGISTER PROVIDERS 5 - 14

The Committee are asked to scrutinise the performance of the 
Borough’s Register Provider Partners for 2016/17 

8.  FOOD AND FEED SERVICE PLAN 2017- 18 15 - 43

The Committee are asked to scrutinise the annual review of Council’s 
Food and Feed Service Plan. 

Public Document Pack



9.  PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 44 - 115

The Committee are asked to scrutinise the revised Playing Pitch 
Strategy. 

10.  COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

116 - 118

To review the Committee’s work programme. 

Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Members
Councillor Neil Butterworth Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor John Hartley Councillor Peter Malcolm
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Liam O'Rourke
Councillor Ann Stott JP Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor June West Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Caroline Denyer Tel: 01706 924717
Email: caroline.denyer2@rochdale.gov.uk 
Governance and Committee Services Officer

mailto:caroline.denyer2@rochdale.gov.uk


COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 19th July 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Neil Butterworth (In the Chair); Councillors Susan 
Emmott, Hartley, Malcolm, Nickson, O'Neill, O'Rourke, Stott, and Winkler 

OFFICERS: D Bowler (Assistant Director – Place), C Abbott (Neighbourhoods 
Directorate) and C Denyer (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  A Havens (Rochdale Boroughwide Housing)

APOLOGIES
13 Apologies were received from Councillors Wazir, West and Zaheer.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
14 Further to the Council’s Code of Conduct, Councillor Susan Emmott 
declared a personal interest in respect of agenda item 6 – RBH Performance 
report -insofar as she is a tenant of a Rochdale Boroughwide Housing 
property.

MINUTES
15 DECIDED – That the Minutes of the meeting of the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
on 21st June 2017 be approved as a correct record.

RBH PERFORMANCE REPORT
16 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
which provided Members with an update on the performance of Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing (RBH) for 2016/17 in relation to the achievement of the 
aspirations, commitments and promises set out in the Council’s Stock 
Transfer Agreement with RBH. Promises were initiatives or projects that RBH 
had committed to deliver. Commitments were described as pre-transfer 
service levels that RBH were required to maintain and aspirations were the 
things that RBH said they would like to do, but were not guaranteed. The 
report also provided some additional key performance information and 
updated the Committee on the organisation’s housing development 
programme and how RBH were working in partnership with the Council, local 
agencies, other registered providers and the Homes and Communities 
Agency (HCA) to deliver key strategic priorities.

 
The Committee was advised that the stock transfer agreement required RBH 
to provide performance information to the Council for a 5 year period following 
the stock transfer from 2012/13 up to 2015/16 and consequently the submitted 
report provided the final one where performance information for RBH was be 
provided separately as the RBH performance information will be included 
within the overall annual Registered Provider report in the future. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



In considering the report, the Committee sought clarification on the number of 
Member complaints and enquiries that had been satisfactorily concluded; the 
number of properties that had been sold under the Right to Buy and Right to 
Acquire Schemes; the number of new properties that had been built and the 
number that were under development; the percentage of apprentices who had 
gained permanent employment with RBH and the percentage of contacts 
awarded to local firms.

A query was raised regarding whether a strategy had been developed by RBH 
to improve dilapidated properties that had been purchased under the right to 
buy scheme. The Assistant Director (Place) advised that there was currently 
an Empty Property Strategy to bring properties back into use across the 
Borough but that RBH did not have a Strategy for this work on their estates.
 
DECIDED – That (1) the report be noted; and 

(2) the Assistant Director (Place) be requested to provide 
Members with the details of the number of RBH properties that had been 
sold under the Right to Buy and Right to Acquire Schemes.

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18
17 The Committee considered the updated Communities, Regeneration 
and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
2017/18. 

DECIDED – That the Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017/18 be noted.

Page 4



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting 20th September 2017
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Housing & Environment
Report Author Caroline Abbott
Public/Private Document Public

Performance Monitoring 2016/17 Register Providers

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The report provides Members with an update on the performance of the 
Borough’s Register Provider (RP) Partners for 2016/17.

There are 14 RPs operating in the Borough who manage 20,948 properties 
across the Borough. RBH are our biggest stock holder with 63% of the stock. 
Riverside and Guinness and the 2nd biggest with 10% each, followed by St 
Vincent’s with 5%.

The report provides and update on affordable housing development, affordable 
rent conversions, disposals, demolitions, welfare reform, the Housing Register, 
health partnership, property and neighbourhood investment, local initiatives and 
the GM MOU.

Summary of the key statistics from the report:
 The development of 172 new affordable homes commenced in 2016/17.
 1,019 properties have been converted to Affordable Rent since 2011.
 315 demolitions in 2016/17.
 25 disposals in 2016/17.
 Rent arrears reduced by £700k since 2013.
 1,602 properties let via CBL.
 £25m invested into existing properties and neighbourhoods in 2016/17.

Recommendation

2.1     The Committee notes the important work carried out by the Borough’s 
Registered Provider (RP) partners and the major contributions they make to 
delivering strategic priorities.

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Recommendation

3.1 To ensure that Members are aware of the important role of RP partners and 
the performance monitored for 2016/17.

Key Points for Consideration

Background

4.1 There are currently 14 RPs (formerly known as housing associations) 
operating across the Borough. These organisations manage 20,948 
properties, the majority of which are social or affordable homes for rent. 
However included in these figures are affordable homes for sale, mainly 
shared ownership and supported housing. 

4.2 The table below details the number of properties and percentage stock holder 
for each RP.

Registered Provider
Number of 
Properties

% Stock 
Holder

Accent 58 0.3%
Anchor Housing 222 1.1%
ARCON 104 0.5%
Contour Homes 757 3.6%
Great Places Housing Group 738 3.5%
Guinness Partnership 2015 9.6%
Housing & Care 21 91 0.4%
Johnnie Johnson Housing 46 0.2%
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing 13292 63.5%
Regenda Group 519 2.5%
Riverside Group 2133 10.2%
St Vincent’s Housing Association 973 4.6%
Your Housing Group 80 0.4%
Total 20948 100%

4.3 There are seven main RPs operating in the Borough who are members of the 
Rochdale Strategic Housing Partnership (RSHP). The seven RPs are:

 Contour Homes
 Great Places Housing Group
 Guinness Partnership
 Regenda Group
 Riverside Group
 Rochdale Boroughwide Housing
 St Vincent’s Housing Association

Page 6



4.4 The RSHP is the Borough’s high level strategic housing group and was 
established to maximise the contribution of housing towards the Borough’s 
broader objectives and the delivery of targets contained within the Council’s 
and Partner’s Strategies.

4.5 In addition to the RSHP the main RP partners have come together with the 
Council to fund the Borough’s unique partnership company Rochdale Housing 
Initiative (RHI). The company, which was formed in 1994 and adds value to 
the work in the Borough by employing dedicated staff who:

 Work with partners to add value to the work they do in the Borough
 Develop new and innovative projects
 Secure funding for projects
 Provide a link between the RPs and other organisations within the 

Borough
 Deliver the Council’s Empty Property Programme

Affordable Housing

4.6 A key area of work for RP partners is the delivery of new affordable housing to 
meet identified housing need. All affordable schemes developed my RP 
partners involve close working with officers in the Council’s Strategic Housing 
Team to ensure that they meet Council priorities in respect of meeting housing 
need and supporting regeneration. The majority of new build by RP partners 
are through the Affordable Homes Programme (AHP), which is facilitated by 
the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). However, some homes are 
delivered on private developments, secured by the Council through section 
106 planning agreements.

4.7 In 2016/17 RP partners commenced the development of eight new affordable 
housing schemes. These schemes will deliver 172 new homes for affordable 
rent. The locations of the four schemes are as follows:

RP Address/Location No of Units
RBH Queens Drive, Rochdale 11
RBH Longridge Drive, Heywood 26
RBH Daventry Road, Kirkholt 11
RBH Lower Falinge, Rochdale 20
RBH The Strand 16
Guinness The Criterion, Heywood 14
Guinness Former Boots Warehouse, Heywood 37
Guinness Newbold, Rochdale 37

Conversions, Disposals and Demolitions

4.8 In January 2011, the HCA published the Affordable Homes Framework which 
introduced a new funding model based on affordable rents.

Page 7



4.9 Under the framework RPs can charge higher rents for affordable housing than 
previously (up to 80% of market rents) both for new homes and for some new 
tenancies of existing homes.

4.10 Strategic Housing is monitoring both the level and impact of rent conversions 
across the Borough. The table below details the number of affordable rent 
conversions since 2011:

Registered Provider Townships
Heywood Middleton Pennine Rochdale

Contour Housing 0 26 0 3
Great Places 0 10 0 45
Guinness 13 3 0 26
Regenda 0 0 0 0
Riverside 0 348 0 0
RBH 15 195 50 266
St Vincent’s 1 0 0 18
Total 29 582 50 358

4.11 In addition to monitoring conversions the Council also keeps a record of the 
number of property disposals and demolitions by RP Partners. In 2016/17 the 
total number was demolitions was 315, which were all RBH properties. The 
demolitions have taken place at the Strand in Kirkholt and Angle Meadow in 
Heywood. In terms of disposals there were 25 during 2016/17, with the 
majority of which being through Right to Buy.

Welfare Reform

4.12 A major challenge for all RPs has been addressing the impact of welfare 
reforms on people and places. All the RPs have taken a proactive approach in 
helping tenants who are affected by the changes and by focusing on early 
intervention through offering comprehensive and tailored support.  

4.13 Examples of some of the financial inclusion work being undertaken by RP 
partners to assist tenants affected by welfare reform include:

 Offering Debt and welfare benefits advice
 Offering advice regarding budgeting and money management
 Assisting tenants with applications for Discretionary Housing Payments
 Offering downsizing incentives
 Making available financial support through the provision of hardship 

funds
 Helping tenants improve their employment skills through the 

establishment of job clubs, providing access to training courses and 
signposting tenants to appropriate support/service providers.

 Participating in training schemes to offer opportunities of paid work 
placements within their organisations

 Setting up direct debit and standing order arrangements with tenants 
for rent payments

Page 8



4.14 The partners provide half yearly information to the Council on the level of 
arrears and possession action carried out. The data provided is fed into the 
Welfare Reform Dashboard which contains a suite of indicators and 
information which is submitted to the Council’s Welfare Reform Board.

4.15 A summary of the Welfare Reform data received from the main RP partners 
over the last five years is provided in the table below. As many of the welfare 
reform changes came into effect in April 2013 the partners were requested to 
provide data for 2012/13, (before the changes commenced) so that a 
comparison could be made on the potential impact the changes had on 
arrears and possession action and more recently on property void levels.

Welfare Reform 
Monitoring

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

No of “live” rent 
arrears
cases at year end 

10,080 12,411 11,389 7,092 6,870

Total amount of rent
arrears at year end 

£3,947,296 £5,211,539 £5,086,672 £4,429,885 £4,458,809

Court Orders 
Obtained –Annual 

211 595 721 576 287

Evictions Carried 
Out – Annual

131 203 222 197 134

No of voids at end of 
Year 

Not 
Collected

Not 
Collected

369 311 266

4.16 The figures provided by the main RP partners show a continuation in the 
reduction of both the level of rent arrears and number of tenants in arrears. 
Partner RPs feel that the proactive work they have been undertaking and the 
effective partnership working with Council’s Housing Benefits Team has 
helped achieve this reduction.

Common Housing Register

4.17 Eight RPs are currently participating in the Common Housing Register and the 
Choice Based Lettings (CBL) Scheme. In 2016/17 a total of 1,602 properties 
were let through the CBL scheme.

Health and Housing

4.18 The RP Partners play a key role in helping to tackle the health inequalities in 
the Borough and adding value to the work of the statutory agencies. With RPs 
managing over 20,000 homes across the borough they are in a unique position 
to engage with and support some of the most vulnerable residents in the 
Borough.

4.19  In 2014 the RP partners, supported by Rochdale Housing Initiative, established 
the Health and Housing Forum, the objective of which is to work closer with the 
Council and Heath Agencies to improve the health and wellbeing of residents in 
the Borough.

Page 9



4.20  Members of the Forum were involved in putting together housing proposals for 
inclusion in the Rochdale Locality Plan and attended consultation events.

4.21 RP partners are committed to contributing to the delivery of a number of Health 
related projects and strategies/plans in the borough, these include:

Contributing to the 5 Ways to Wellbeing Action Plan through:
 Promoting 5 ways to wellbeing
 Signing up to the Workplace Wellbeing Charter
 Monitoring impact of our interventions through WEMWEBS
Contributing to the Healthier Lives in Rochdale Strategy through:
 Participating in the ‘Health Chats’ programme
 Sharing behaviour change messages
 Participating in the Ageing well Programme
 Developing wellbeing Champions
Contributing to the Premature Mortality Project
 Helping to improve uptake of NHS Health Checks in target groups
 Engaging with people who have multiple health problems and assisting 
them into clinical services

Investment

4.22 In addition to the amount of funding RP partners invest in building new 
affordable homes they have also invested over £25,000,000 on improvements 
to their housing stock, the environment on estates and supporting the 
communities they work in.  The table below shows the total investment across 
a range of areas.

Investment Area Amount
Investment on improvements to properties in the Rochdale 
Borough.

£12,370,927

Investment on improving the energy efficiency of homes in 
the Rochdale Borough.

£9,273,916

Investment on environmental improvements schemes in the 
Rochdale Borough.

£1,435,198

Investment on grounds maintenance in the Rochdale 
Borough.

£1,349,963

Investment on initiatives involving supporting communities in 
the Rochdale Borough

£887,224

TOTAL £25,317,228

Local Initiatives

4.23 The RP partners are involved in providing a wide range of services and 
projects across the borough many of which are not widely publicised yet their 
impact is extremely positive and the outcomes beneficial for the targeted 
communities. The table attached (please see appendix 1) sets out some of 
the excellent work undertaken by the partner RPs during 2016/17.

Page 10



Development of Local Memorandum of Understanding

4.24 A Greater Manchester Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has been 
developed between the Greater Manchester Combines Authority (GMCA) and 
the Greater Manchester Housing providers (GMHP) . The MoU provides 
clarity around how the partnership arrangements between GMHP and the 
GMCA will be structured to limit the duplication of effort and simplify 
communication. GMCA approved the MOU with the Greater Manchester 
Housing Providers Group in 2016, and asked that progress be regularly 
reported to GMCA. 

4.25 The Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) recognises the GM housing 
providers’ track record of delivering positive change, will enable them to play a 
pivotal role along with the ten local authorities in further developing new 
approaches to growth, public service reform and the management of place as 
the Combined Authority’s strategy is rolled out.

4.26 Linked to the GM MOU is the establishment of a Joint Venture with all the GM 
Housing Providers. This Joint Venture will be a 50:50 arrangement that 
combines Local Authority land with the GM Housing Providers financial 
resources to fund a JVCO to build a programme of sites. The JVCO will 
enable the Council to opt to sell the land for a capital receipt or invest as 
equity depending on the objective of the development. The establishment of 
the JVCO will deliver above and beyond the existing HCA Affordable Homes 
Programme.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no specific financial implications relating to this monitoring report.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1    There are no specific risk or policy issues for Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider arising from this report.

Consultation

7.1 No Consultation required. Report for information only

Background Papers

                                Appendix 1 – Local Initiatives

For Further Information Contact: Caroline Abbott,01706 924015 , 
caroline.abbott@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 11



APPENDIX 1

REGISTERED PROVIDER LOCAL INITIATIVES 2016/17

RP Initiative

Contour Homes Sponsored the badminton courts for Middleton Heartline Club 
for 6 months (Wednesday and Friday mornings 10-12pm at 
Middleton Arena) for anyone who has suffered with heart 
problems (and their family) to join this group- social interaction, 
events, gym, badminton, Zumba, holistic therapies). Awarded 
£2000 Contour Cash for Communities funding (match funded 
by CCG).

Contour Homes Armchair Exercises at D’Olivera Court, Sheltered Scheme in 
Langley (Monday mornings 11am – 12pm) Funded these 
sessions for 8 months, open to the wider community for older 
people who have mobility problems and might want to do gentle 
exercise and social interaction. Awarded £1350 Cash For 
Communities Funding (match funded by Big Life- free health 
care worker who does check ups). Monthly art group linked to 
this run from the sheltered scheme too. 

Contour Homes Rochdale Multicultural Arts and Media Centre (MAMC) 
Wellbeing Café (by Rochdale train station) Awarded £1000 
Contour Cash for Communities (match funded by local 
businesses £800 to get the café started). Open every day for 
people to come and have refreshments and get support with 
job search, work experience, IT access, creative writing, music, 
dementia cafes and more. 

Contour Homes Working with 26 tenants who are job seekers linking in with 
Skills For Employment deliverers- Employment Links 
Partnerships.

Contour Homes Basic IT courses- 10 week course to support tenants moving 
over to Universal Credit Online, run from Middleton Lighthouse 
Project (Middleton Shopping Centre) Monday mornings 9.30am 
– 11.30am (6 weeks left to go).  Have 4 attendees at the 
moment and open to the wider community (wider IT project 
across other neighbourhoods Contour has sponsored £2000 in 
total with match funding from Awards For All Lottery).

Page 12



RP Initiative

Regenda Petrus Community joined the Regenda Group in 2016 and we 
are continuing to develop services and provision together, 
including within Rochdale. 

Regenda Our work with the RHI Health & Housing initiative has 
continued with further strategic discussion and planning by 
regional providers. Provision has developed around hospital to 
home activities. 

Regenda We continue to review opportunities for appropriate 
development, including a range of tenures, and we are also 
reviewing options for community regeneration activity.  

Regenda We are working with RHI and the Empty Homes team to 
identify and assess potential opportunities for different parts of 
the Regenda Group.

St Vincent’s Housing 
Association

Over to You (O2Y) - The  objectives are to listen to customers 
experiences, positive and negative, record information and 
support customers in understanding their rights and 
responsibilities when using the Health and Social Care 
Services; thus improving the skills, knowledge and confidence 
of customers, their friends and families, and to challenge the 
quality of Health and Social Care Services.  Over 2 You aims to 
work as a critical friend, enabling  Health and Social care 
providers to listen to queries, compliments or concerns 
expressed by patients and their families and include them in 
future decision making and planning.

Page 13



RP Initiative

St Vincent’s Housing 
Association

Pregnancy therapy - In July 2016 SVHA set up a pilot project in 
Rochdale in partnership with Deeplish Children’s Centre funded 
by Rochdale Housing Initiative. This project has received 45 
referrals seen 32 women for a first appointment. 

Women that have been referred to the service at both locations 
have come to us at different stages in their pregnancy, or 
postnatally. The problems that they were presenting with 
included:

 Suffering with stress and anxiety on a daily basis maybe 
because of an on- going situation at home

 Experiencing physical pain during their pregnancy or 
postnatally after giving birth

 Anxiety towards the birth either because they are going 
to be come first time mothers or because they had 
experienced a difficult birth previously

 Suffering with depression either during their pregnancy, 
postnatally or feeling low in mood

 Struggling to bond with baby 
 Drug / alcohol problems 
 Suffering domestic violence

Page 14



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 20th September 2017
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Public 

Health and Regulation
Report Author Nicola Rogers
Public/Private Document Public Document

Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18

Executive Summary

1. This report presents the annual review of Council’s Food and Feed Service 
Plan. It identifies the scope and demands on the Service. It provides details of 
last year’s performance and details the way the Service proposes to continue 
to meet the Food Standards Agency’s mandatory guidance on inspection 
frequency. The report also proposes to introduce two new discretionary fees 
and charges in relation to two aspects of food hygiene matters.

Recommendation

2. Members are recommended to;

2.1 endorse the Service Plan set out in Appendix 1 as the authorities Food 
and Feed Service Plan for 2017-18; and

2.2 accept the Food Standards Agency letter dated 5 May 2017 (Appendix 2) 
acknowledging that the action plan has been fully implemented and thanking 
staff for the action taken to address the recommendations: and

2.3 endorse the introduction of two new discretionary fees and charges as set 
out in section 5 of the report, with effect from 1 January 2018 onwards: 

Reason for Recommendation

3. 3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) was formed in 2000 in response to a 
number of damaging, high profile food scares. The FSA has set out in a 
Framework Agreement the levels of service to be provided by local authorities 
for Food Safety (hygiene), Food Standards (labelling and composition) and 
Animal Feeding stuffs. Local authorities are required to submit returns of both 
the qualitative and quantitative aspects of work carried out. The FSA carry out 
audits of local authorities as part of a “rolling programme”, to check 
compliance with the Framework Agreement.

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



3.2 It is a requirement of the Framework Agreement that local Food Authorities 
review their performance on an annual basis. This authority has traditionally 
chosen to do so by submitting it Food and Feed Plan for consideration by 
elected members at Cabinet.

3.3 The most recent Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP) was issued in March 
2017 and informs Food Authorities on the execution and enforcement of food 
legislation. Food Authorities must have regard to this Code when discharging 
their statutory duties.

3.4 Previously the Code of Practice has acknowledged that Food Authorities 
would come under varying pressures and many would eventually be unable to 
meet their inspections programmes. The amended Code advises Authorities to 
discharge their duties as effectively as possible by using means appropriate to 
the circumstance. It states the Food Authorities should ensure that 
enforcement action is reasonable, proportionate, risk-based and consistent 
with good practice. It guides officers to take account of the full range of 
enforcement options. The Code acknowledges that interventions are the key 
to food business operators improving compliance with food legislation. It 
states that an Interventions Programme is central to a local regulatory and 
enforcement regime. The Code defines the different types of interventions, the 
circumstances and frequency in which they should be applied. The 
intervention ratings determine that more intensive regulation is directed at 
those businesses that present the greatest risk to public health. This is 
consistent with a risk based approach allowing professional judgement to 
apply a proportionate level of regulatory and enforcement activity to each food 
business.

3.5 In March 2015 the FSA conducted a formal inspection of our food safety 
function. The final report identified a number of areas in need of improvement 
which included; ensuring sufficient numbers of officers and resources to 
deliver the full range of enforcement activities, addressing the backlog of 
overdue interventions, inspections and interventions, Inspections needing to 
be carried out at frequencies not less that as specified in the Food Law Code 
of Practice; ensure all officers are appropriately qualified, authorised and 
trained,  review  the Enforcement Policy and ensure identified non-compliance 
is followed up by appropriate action.

3.6 An action plan was agreed with the FSA to address all the areas identified 
as in need of improvement. Additional recurrent and one-off public health 
financial resource was identified which enabled the procurement of additional 
staff and an external contractor to eradicate the backlog of overdue 
inspections. 

3.7 The FSA lead auditor has made three follow up visits to review progress 
on the action plan. Performance information has also been supplied regularly 
to the FSA lead auditor. The FSA letter dated 5 May 2017 to the Chief 
Executive confirms that the action plan has been fully implemented, the audit 
is now closed and staff are thanked for the action taken to address the 
recommendations. (Appendix 2)

Page 16



3.8 The FSA will continue to monitor performance of all local authorities but 
additional scrutiny will be placed on Rochdale Council to ensure that the 
improvements achieved over the last 2 year are sustained. 

Key Points for Consideration

4. 4.1 A copy of the Council’s Food and Feed Service Plan for 2017/18 is 
attached to this report as Appendix 1. The plan is retrospective in the sense 
that it looks back on performance in 2016/17. It  is current in that it sets out the 
targets for service delivery in 2017/18; and it is forward looking in that it 
considers the future inspection programme and considers issues which may 
impact upon the Service in future years. A summary of these issues are set 
out below;

4.2 Review of 2016/17

4.2.1 Section 4 of the Food and Feed Service Plan in Appendix 1 confirms that 
increased resources into the Service has resulted in increased performance, 
increased activity output and increased outcomes. It can be seen that the 
backlog of food hygiene “due inspections” has been completely eradicated.

4.2.2 A total of 1735 food hygiene interventions were completed which 
included;
781 inspections
376 verification / surveillance visits
67 sampling visits
48 advisory visits
463 information gathering activities

4.2.3 A total of 1016 enforcement actions were taken which involved;
993 written warnings
8 improvement notices and
15 voluntary closures of food premises

4.2.4 The percentage of broadly compliant premises has increased in the last 
12 months by 3% and currently 91% of food premises are complaint with food 
hygiene standards.

4.2.5 The Service received and dealt with a total of 563 complaints from 
members of the public;
407 complaints were regarding food purchased and
156 complaints were regarding the hygiene at food premises.
This is significant increase on the number of complaints dealt with last year 
(up by 64% on 2016-17 figures). The increase in Rochdale Borough is in line 
with a general national increase in the number of complaints received by local 
authorities. The FSA has acknowledge this national increase and suggests the 
reason is due to increased awareness amongst the public about the Food 
Hygiene Rating Scores for premises and also the FSA online reporting tool 
which makes it easy for the public to report concerns. 

Page 17



4.2.5 Performance in relation to food standards (labelling and composition) 
has increased slightly. Available resources have been targeted at premises 
posing higher risk, however the majority of medium and lower risk premises 
have inspections outstanding. The plan proposes the use of alternative 
enforcement strategies to reduce this number.

4.2.5 Work in relation to feed was carried out on Rochdale’s behalf by suitably  
qualified officers from Oldham Council. A total of 24 inspections were carried 
out and one alternative enforcement strategy at a lower risk premises.

4.3 Current Year 2017/18

4.3.1 Section 2 of the Service Plan in Appendix 1 confirms that on 1 April 2017 
a total of 1610 food premises and 97 feed premises were identified as in 
scope for enforcement purposes. Section 3 of Appendix 1 sets out the range 
of interventions (including inspections, proactive enforcement and business 
support and advice) which will be conducted in 2017/8, in accordance with the 
FSA Code of Practice. 

 
4.3.2 The Service is keen to maintain the improved performance in relation to 
compliance with the FSA Code of Practice particularly in relation to inspection 
frequencies. The level of resources needed is obviously dependant on the 
scale of the inspections programme in future years as well as the current year. 
The Plan details specifically the intervention programme for the current year.

4.3.3 It is projected that the current in-house officer resource will leave a 
shortfall of approximately 500 food hygiene “due Inspections”. The recurrent 
Public Health funding will allow the continued purchasing of inspections to 
meet this gap and this contract is currently being retendered. The purchased 
inspections will allow the Service to maintain compliance with the FSA Code of 
Practice on inspection frequency. 

4.3.4 In relation to food standards; the inspection programme has been 
identified for the current year. The impact of shifting from the NTSB risk rating 
to the FSA risk rating for food standards has had a significant impact and 
there is now a high number of premises now deemed to be unrated / yet to be 
assessed. It is therefore acknowledged that the resource for the current year 
will not facilitate inspections at all the premises due for inspection. It is 
therefore intended to continue to operate on a risk based inspection 
programme with priority given to the higher risk premises. Alternative 
enforcement strategies will be carried out at the lower risk premises (C’s) due 
for intervention this year. Inspections of the unrated / yet to be assessed 
premises will be undertaken on a risk based approach; highest risk first, 
informed by the historical NTSB risk rating. Inspections will also be carried out 
at premises subject to complaints. 

4.3.5 In relation to Feed, funding provided via Trading Standards North West 
will facilitate 12 feed inspections to be carried out by Oldham Council on 
Rochdale’s behalf.

Page 18



 
Alternatives Considered

4.4 None – the authority is obliged to produce an annual Food and Feed 
Service Plan.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. 5.1 In addition to the core public protection budget a recurrent budget of 
£100,000 has been committed by Public Health to improve Food Safety in the 
Borough. This additional funding allows for additional officer resource within 
the team and the purchase of high numbers of value for money inspections. 
This current level of resource is adequate to maintain delivery of interventions 
and inspections at the required frequency by using a mixture of in-house 
officers and contracted inspections.

5.2 There are two new developments across the Greater Manchester region 
which the 10 GM authorities propose to introduce and implement to ensure 
consistency across the region;

5.2.1 Charges for Food Hygiene rescoring revisits - These are when a food 
business gets a poor food hygiene rating score and they have the right to 
undertake improvements and then request a rescore visit. GM local authorities 
currently provide these rescore visits free of charge. The FSA have directed 
that LAs should make a recharge but this should be on a cost recovery basis 
only. Rochdale officers have worked with GM colleagues to identify the cost of 
such a rescore visit. It has been agreed across GM that a standardised fee of 
£165.00 be applied to businesses requesting a rescore visit. 

5.2.2 Charges for bespoke advisory visits – Rochdale currently provides 
advice and guidance to businesses during inspection visits and these are 
always followed up with written advice on legislative requirement and good 
practice advice. There is no intention to change for this. Some businesses 
however make contact and request bespoke advice, usually in relation to new 
or expanding business situations, refurbishments, new product lines etc. It is 
for these circumstances that some GM authorities already charge an hourly 
rate for bespoke advisory visits. Again discussions across GM local authorities 
have resulted in a proposed standardised hourly rate of £79.00 for this type of 
requested bespoke advice. 
 
5.2.3 All GM local authorities are going through their internal governance 
arrangements to introduce both the above charges. Rochdale will include 
these new fees in the discretionary fees and charges report for 2018-19. It is 
anticipated that these charges will yield approx. £4000 income per annum. It is 
proposed that the new charges be implemented from 1 January 2018. 

Risk and Policy Implications

6. 6.1. The work set out in the report is required to allow the authority to best 
comply with its statutory duties as set out in paragraph 3.1 above. Should the 

Page 19



Council fail to provide sufficient resources to undertake and manage the work 
there will be a breach of its statutory duty as food authority and will be 
subject to criticism and further challenge by the FSA. 

6.2 It is acknowledged that a large proportion of non-compliant food 
businesses are run by food business operators from ethnic minority 
communities. To assist the challenge of improving compliance in non-
compliant bussinesses, two team members speak minority languages as well 
as English. The Team also uses interpreters as required. The Team has 
commissioned resources and on-line training packages in minority 
languages.

6.3 There are no significant workforce equality issues arising from this report.

Consultation

7. The Food and Feed Service Plan will be presented to Informal Cabinet, and 
Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Feedback from these Committees and the final report will be 
provided to Cabinet for approval.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Food Law Code of Practice, 
March 2017

Public Protection Service, Floor 3, 
Number 1 Riverside

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 20



Appendix 1

FOOD & FEED
SERVICE PLAN

2017 / 2018

PUBLIC HEALTH & WELL-BEING
Public Protection Service

Business Engagement & Compliance Team

Service Manager / Lead Officer :  Nicola Rogers
Team Leader (Food Safety): Jackie Hall

Team Leader (Food Standards and Feed): Gary Singleton

Page 21



Contents  
Contents 2

1. Service Aims and Objectives 4

1.1 Aims and Objectives 4

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans 4

2. Background 4

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 4

2.2 Organisational Structure 5

2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service 6

2.4 Demands on the Food Service 6

2.4.2 Business Profile – Risk Categories 7

2.4.3 Approved Premises 7

2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 7

2.4.5 External Factors 7

2.5 Enforcement Policy 7

2.6 Document Management 8

3. Service Delivery 8

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premises Visits 8

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections 8

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 9

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections 9

3.1.4 Feed Inspections 10

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service 11

3.2.1 Food Hygiene 11

3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed 11

3.3 Primary Authority 12

3.4 Advice to Business 12

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling 12

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme: 13

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme 13

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme 13

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples 13

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease 13

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts 13

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 13

Page 22



3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion 14

4. Resources 14

4.1 Financial Allocation 14

4.2 Staffing Allocation 15

4.3 Staff Development Plan 15

5. Quality Assessment 16

6. Performance 16

6.1 Review against the Service Plan 16

6.1.1 Food Hygiene 17

6.1.2 Food Standards 18

6.1.3 Feed 19

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan 19

6.2.1 Food Hygiene 19

6.2.2 Food Standards 19

6.2.3 Feed 20

6.3 Areas for Improvement 20

6.4 Future Challenges 20

6.4.1 Resources 20

6.4.2 Legislative 21

Page 23



1. Service Aims and Objectives

1.1 Aims and Objectives

Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service aims to:

 ensure as far as possible the safety of food produced, sold and consumed within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of feed produced, sold and used within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of primary food production within the Borough;

 ensure as far as possible that food and feed meets appropriate quality standards, is 
correctly labelled and described and is free from contaminants;

 identify risks to the safety of food and feed produced or sold within the Borough and to 
advise and educate food businesses and take enforcement action where appropriate;

 support and promote the Food Standards Agency’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme;

 support funded regional working via the Food Standards Agency, the National Trading 
Standards Board and the Trading Standards North West Food and Feed Groups; and

 develop the professional qualifications, competencies and experience of Food and 
Feed Safety officers.

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans

Activities in this Plan directly link to the four key priorities identified in the current Corporate 
Delivery Plan, ie they are intended to ensure service delivery with co-operative values and 
ethics at the heart of what we do in relation to People; Place; Prosperity; and Public Service 
Reform.

2. Background

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority

Rochdale Borough is located in the north-east region of the Greater Manchester conurbation. 
The Borough covers 62 square miles of which about two-thirds is rural. It is characterised by 
urban developments of dense housing and industrial areas located along major roadways.

The Borough is divided into four Townships based around the towns of Rochdale, Heywood 
and Middleton, together with the eastern urban area, the Pennines Township.

Full information about the profile of the Borough can be found on the Council’s website at 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf

Page 24

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf


2.2 Public Protection Service 

The Public Protection Service is located within the Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate 
and portfolio. 

 

CABINET

PORTFOLIO HOLDER OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY

PUBLIC HEALTH
Director of Public Health

PUBLIC PROTECTION SERVICE
Consultant in Public Health

CORE FUNCTIONS
Service Manager

Lead Officer (Food Safety)
Lead Officer (Food Standards 

and Feed)

ANIMAL FEED
Oldham Trading Standards FOOD 

STANDARDS
 

0.15 FTE

FOOD HYGIENE

3.9 FTE 

LANCASHIRE COUNTY 
SCIENTIFIC SERVICES

Public Analyst

NATIONAL TRADING 
STANDARDS BOARD

Feed Funding

HEALTH PROTECTION 
AGENCY

Food Examiner

ICT / APP 
SUPPORT

0.2 FTE

ADMIN 
SUPPORT

1 FTE

INFECTIOUS 
DISEASES

0.2 FTE

COUNCIL

Page 25



2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service

The Food Service is provided by Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service. The following 
is a list of the main food related responsibilities:

 provide a high quality food service in accordance with the FSA Framework Agreement 
(April 2010);

 undertake programmed food safety and food standards inspections of food premises, with 
reference to the FSA Code of Practice (March 2017). Available resources are targeted at 
the higher-risk premises;

 carry out investigation of complaints regarding food premises and items of food produced 
or sold within the Borough (applying risk-based criteria);

 liaise with other local authorities in relation to businesses for which the authority acts as 
Primary Authority and providing advice to these businesses where appropriate;

 dealing with basic requests for information and advice from food businesses and 
signposting where appropriate;

 introduce consistent GM wide recharges for requested Food Hygiene Rating Score 
rescore revisits and requested bespoke advisory visits

 participate in the AGMA Food Liaison Group, TSNW Food & Agriculture Group and other 
regional / national agencies; and

 control and investigate outbreaks of food-related infectious disease (provided in 
conjunction with other Public Protection staff).

Feed Service delivery is co-ordinated by Rochdale Council’s Lead Officer (Feed) but the 
inspection of premises handling animal feed and sampling is carried out by Oldham Trading 
Standards.

2.4 Demands on the Food Service

2.4.1 Business Profile – Business Types

The breakdown of premises by business type liable for enforcement at 1st April 2017 is as 
follows:

Food Safety
(Hygiene and Standards)

Feed Safety

Primary Producer 7 Co Product Producer (R12) 9
Manufacturer / Packer 31 Stores (R9) 4
Importer / Exporter 1 Distributor (R5) 3
Distributor / Transporter 21 Transporter (R8) 3
Retailers 428 On Farm Mixer (R10/11) 4
Restaurants & Caterers 1122 Pet Food Manufacturer (R6) 1

Supplier of Surplus Food 
9R7)

19

Livestock Farms (R13) 53
Arable Farms (R14)                                                                                            1

TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 97

Page 26



2.4.2 Business Profile – Risk Categories 

The breakdown of premises by risk category liable for enforcement at 1st April 2016 is as 
follows:

Food Hygiene Food Standards Feed Safety

Cat A (Highest Risk)  11 High Risk (A) 3 High Risk 1
Cat B 72 Medium Risk (B) 363 Medium Risk 2
Cat C 318 Low Risk (C) 1195 Low Risk 39
Cat D 598 Unrated / Uncoded 49 Unrated 55
Cat E (Lowest risk) 512 
Unrated 36 
TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 97

2.4.3 Approved Premises

The Authority is responsible for approving premises carrying out specialist processes, which 
fall within the scope of EC Regulation 853/2004. The numbers of these premises are as 
follows:

Approved Premises

Dairy Products 6
Meat Products 4
Minced Meat & Meat Preparations 2
Cold Stores 3
TOTAL 15

2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 

The Public Protection Service is based at Number One Riverside, Floor 3, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU and operates between 8.45am and 4.45pm, Monday to Friday

The service can also be contacted by telephone via the Council’s Contact Centre (0300 303 
8871), the Citizens Advice Consumer Service (0345 404 0506), through the website 
‘www.rochdale.gov.uk’ and by email (environmental.health@rochdale.gov.uk)
 

2.4.5 Demographic Factors

Approximately 21% of Rochdale’s population are from an ethnic minority background. Those 
of Pakistani origin form the largest proportion at 10.5%, with other ethnicities such as 
Bangladeshi and Chinese making up another 4%. The most deprived 3% of areas in the 
Borough have a bigger proportion of people from minority ethnic backgrounds (up to 
30%).Traditionally a significant proportion of food business operators are from ethnic minority 
groups and a proportion of non-compliant food businesses are run by ethnic minorities.

2.5 Enforcement Policy

The Council has a Public Protection Enforcement Policy 2015 which covers the requirements 
for both Food and Feed Safety enforcement. The policy was developed in accordance with 

Page 27

mailto:environmental.health@rochdale.gov.uk


the Regulators’ Compliance Code (2014) and the Framework Agreement on Official Feed and 
Food Controls by Local Authorities (2010).  It was formally adopted by Rochdale Council’s 
Cabinet on 29 June 2015 and is displayed on the Council’s website. 

2.6 Document Management

Records of all Food and Feed Safety enforcement work are stored in digital format and are 
retained for 6 years.

3. Service Delivery

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premises Visits

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections

Food Hygiene inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation, in line 
with the FSA Code of Practice. The Code sets out the frequencies at which routine food 
hygiene visits to food businesses should be made as follows:  

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every six months
B At least every 12 months
C At least every 18 months
D At least every 24 months
E Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 36 months

Inspection programme

In previous years, the Section has struggled to undertake a full inspection programme in 
compliance with FSA Code of Practice due to resource constraints.  However, the provision of 
recurrent funding from Public Health has enabled the Section to manage the previous backlog 
of “due inspections” and allow all current due inspections to also be completed. The challenge 
for the Service is to now maintain compliance with the FSA Code of Practice inspection 
frequency. The level of resources needed is obviously dependant on the scale of the 
inspection programme moving forward. The table below provides the details of numbers of 
inspections due based on current risk ratings of the current food businesses within the 
Borough;

Food Hygiene

Premises 
Total No’s 

Inspections 
due 2017/18

Cat A (Highest risk)  11 11
Cat B 72 72
Cat C 318 253
Cat D 598 352
Cat E (Lowest risk) 512 15
Unrated 36 36
TOTAL 1610 739

Page 28



With current resources the inspection programme for the current year can be completely 
fulfilled if funding levels are maintained.

Where appropriate and necessary, inspections will also be carried out at premises subject to 
complaints. It is anticipated the in-house resource will be sufficient to manage this workload.

Proactive Enforcement

The current level of officer resource also allows the following proactive enforcement work to 
be carried during 2017/18 in order to raise compliance in food businesses;
 

 ATP swabbing to be used to determine the effective of cleaning in food premises
 Training project and support for new businesses including on-line training in different 

languages, food allergen leaflets in translated languages – Urdu, Chinese, Punjabi, 
Polish, & Hindu, on site allergen testing kits in peanuts & gluten  

 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme in schools (commitment to involve all schools 
within the Borough by 2020)

 Retail violence initiative targeted at takeaway premises
 Use of social media to raise awareness of Food Hygiene Rating Scores and general 

food safety awareness linked around National Food Safety week and seasonal events  
ie Valentines, Christmas, Easter etc

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

The Service participates in the FSA’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. This involves retail and 
catering businesses being given a food hygiene rating after each full hygiene inspection. They 
are provided with a window sticker which they are asked to display at their premises. The 
results are also available through the Council’s website and as part of the Food Standards 
Agency national scheme.

The ratings allow consumers to make informed decisions about where they may wish to eat or 
purchase food and will help to improve hygiene standards by publicising information about 
individual businesses. The ratings are as follows:

0 (Lowest) Urgent Improvement Needed
1 Major Improvement Needed
2 Improvement Needed
3 Generally Satisfactory
4 Good
5 (Highest) Very Good

Where premises receive rating scores of 0-2 (non-compliant), follow up work and appropriate 
enforcement actions and revisits are carried out to raise standards and move the premises 
back into compliance. 

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections

Food Standards inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation. 
Historically the Service has used the National Trading Standards Board (NTSB) risk rating 
criteria to risk rate the premises within the Borough. This resulted in a relatively small number 
of premises being rated as high risk and a large number of medium and lower risk premises. 
Risk based prioritisation resulted in the majority of the lower risk premises not being subject to 
an inspection. 

Page 29



The risk rating criteria used by the NTSB are slightly different than the FSA risk rating criteria. 
For consistency the Service switched to the FSA risk rating criteria for food standards during 
2016-17, thus ensuring that both Food Hygiene and Food Standards follow the FSA risk rating 
criteria.  This has resulted in a large number of premises being deemed to be “yet to be 
assessed” under the FSA criteria. 

The FSA Code of Practice sets out the frequencies at which routine food standards 
inspections of food businesses should be made as follows:

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every 12 months
B At least every 24 months
C Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 60 months

Inspection programme

The table below provides the details of numbers of inspections due based on the current FSA 
risk ratings;

Premises 
Total No’s 

Inspections 
due 2016/17

A (Highest risk) 3 3
B 363 77
C (Lowest risk) 1195 374
Unrated / yet to be assessed 49 1079
TOTAL 1610 1533

The inspections will continue to be risk based and the “due inspections” at the higher risk 
premises (A’s and B’s) will be fully completed. Alternative enforcement strategies will be 
carried out at the lower risk premises (C’s) due for intervention this year. 

It is acknowledged that the resource for the current year will not facilitate inspections at the 
high number of unrated / yet to be assessed premises. It is therefore intended to continue to 
operate on a risk based approach; highest risk first, informed by the historical NTSB risk 
rating.

3.1.4 Feed Inspections

In 2013, the Food Standards Agency committed funding to the delivery of animal feed 
enforcement work via the National Trading Standards Board. This funding has been reduced 
year on year and subsequently in 2017/18 funding is provided for 12 Feed Inspections to be 
carried out in Rochdale.

The table below details the types of premises and the numbers of inspections to be completed 
during 2017-18;

Page 30



 Inspections
Manufacturer (A1-A8/R1-
R4/R6/A11)
Co Product Producer - R12 3
Mobile Mixer - R4
Importers
Stores - R9 1
Distributor (A1-A8/R1-R3/R5/A11)
Transporter - R8 1
On Farm Mixer - R10 and R11 2
Pet Food Manufacturer – R06
Supplier of Surplus Food - R7 2
Livestock farms - R13 3
Arable Farms – R14
Total: 12

As none of the qualified officers in this Service have the required competencies and Continual 
Professional Development, this work in 2017/18 will continue to be carried out on our behalf 
by Oldham Trading Standards.

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service

3.2.1 Food Hygiene

Complaints and requests for service in respect of food and the hygiene of food premises are 
dealt with in line with documented procedures.  All complaints received are assessed by the 
Team Leader (Food), with the level of investigation / action being determined based on the 
risk to public health arising from the complaint.

We will continue to prioritise the most serious complaints and selection criteria have been 
developed to determine which complaints will take priority.

Approximately 600 complaints and service requests are expected to be dealt with in 2017/18.   

All requests for ‘Health Certificates’ are dealt with to enable local businesses to export food. A 
charge is made for this work. Approximately 100 such requests are expected to be dealt with 
in 2017/18.

3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed

All food standards complaints are recorded and assessed for further action in line with 
documented procedures. The possible actions which are available, are included in the 
Enforcement Policy and are determined by the Team Leader (Commercial Practices) in 
consultation with the Lead Officer.

Page 31



The Service expects to receive approximately 40 complaints and requests for trader advice 
per annum relating to food standards and feeding stuffs. From 1 April 2012 the service 
previously provided by Consumer Direct was transferred to the Citizens Advice Consumer 
Service. This situation remains.

3.3 Primary Authority 

The aim of the Primary Authority Principle is to increase communication between local 
authorities dealing with businesses, which have multiple premises located in different parts of 
the country. It is a legal requirement that regulatory services comply with the Primary Authority 
Principle. The benefits of the Principle are as follows:

 greater enforcement consistency;
 increased efficiency and reduced enforcement duplication;
 preventative enforcement through advice on compliance;
 resolution of conflicts between different authorities and between authorities and 

businesses;
 better understanding and awareness of commercial issues;
 increased understanding of local businesses; and
 enhanced technical and audit expertise.

Proposed changes to partnership governance rules expected to take place in October 2017  
has resulted in the 10 GM local authorities working collaboratively to create a Greater 
Manchester Centre of Excellence to support primary authority partnerships.

Rochdale does  not currently have any Primary Authority Partnership Agreements in place 
relating to food but promotional work around the combined centre of Excellence may result in 
partnerships within the Borough being developed during 2017/18.

3.4 Advice to Business

The service will continue to provide assistance to business, to help them to comply with the 
requirements of legislation and improve compliance.  This will primarily take place during 
routine inspections, complaint investigations and by signposting to extensive online guidance.

All written documentation clearly differentiates between legal requirements and 
recommendations for business improvements.

As a result of Public Health funding, the following proactive work will incorporate business 
advice during 2017/18:   

 Training project and support for new businesses and non-compliant businesses 
including the provision of food hygiene manuals, training courses, on-line training in 
different languages, food allergen leaflets in translated languages – Urdu, Chinese, 
Punjabi, Polish, & Hindu, on site allergen testing kits in peanuts & gluten  

 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme in schools
 Support FSA National Food Safety Week and seasonal campaigns via social media
 Promote Food Hygiene rating scheme through social media

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling

The Food Standards Agency Framework agreement requires local authorities to develop a 
sampling programme which should include the following:

 samples submitted following a complaint;

Page 32



 samples taken as part of an investigation of a suspected food poisoning outbreak; and
 routine sampling, to assess the safety of particular foods.

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme:

Without FSA funding for food hygiene samples this year, priority will be given to samples from 
non-compliant businesses and those required during outbreak investigations.  It is anticipated 
70 samples will be taken in 2017/18.

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme

For several years the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to food standards 
sampling work via bids from regional food groups. Rochdale will continue to utilise this funding 
if it continues to be available during 2017/18. 

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme

Since 2013, the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to feed sampling work via the 
National Trading Standards Board. Rochdale will continue to utilise this funding if it continues 
to be available during 2017/18. 

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples

The authority’s Public Analyst is Lancashire County Scientific Services.

The Food Examiner who carries out microbiological analysis of food samples is the Health 
Protection Agency (York Laboratory).

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease

The Council liaises with  the Health Protection team in Public Health England on all matters 
relating to the control and investigation of food related infectious disease. When required an 
Outbreak Control Team is convened in accordance with criteria laid down in the Infectious 
Disease Outbreak and Control Plan, and includes representatives from the Council.

The investigation of suspected outbreaks is carried out in conjunction with the Public 
Protection Service Communities Team.

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts

Food Alerts are issued by the Food Standards Agency to advise local authorities and 
consumers of foods which may not comply with food safety standards. These are dealt with in 
line with documented procedures, which comply with the guidance provided in the FSA Code 
of Practice ensuring that all food alerts ‘For Action’ are dealt with.

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations

The Public Protection Service is committed to being involved in liaison with other local 
authorities, and associated organisations, to achieve consistency and to maintain our level of 
knowledge and understanding in a rapidly changing area of work. This is done by being 
actively involved in a number of Groups, including:

 AGMA Food Liaison Group;
 AGMA Public Protection Partnership;
 Public Health England;
 Trading Standards North West Food & Agriculture Group;

Page 33



 Trading Standards North West Feed Group; and
 The Rochdale Borough Partnership Enforcement Team;
 Participation in FSA Communication for Compliance pilot

We also have consultation arrangements with other service providers within the Council in 
respect of:

 applications for planning approval;
 Building Regulations approval; and
 applications under the Licensing Act 2003.

3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion

In addition to the advisory activities carried out to support food businesses set out above, 
work is continuing to increase awareness of the importance of food safety and healthy eating 
amongst consumers. This includes the promotion of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, 
AGMA Healthy Catering Award and FSA seasonal campaigns.  

The Service will also be supporting businesses by the use of technology;
The Service has 2 ATP swabbing machines; these immediately detect and quantify 
cleanliness of surfaces.
The Service will also be using allergen testing kits; again providing an immediate indication as 
to whether food allergens are present. General and bespoke information on food allergens will 
continue to be provided to businesses and consumers at every opportunity. Events organised 
by Link4Life are also supported. 

4. Resources 

4.1 Financial Allocation

The Food Hygiene and Food Standards teams have previously been part of separate teams 
within the Public Protection Service, but from June 2015 are both part of the same section 
(covering Core functions).  However, Food Safety work is not carried out in isolation. As such, 
figures for financial resources are based on the staffing levels identified in section 4.2 below.

Food Hygiene Food Standards
Expenditure
Employee Costs         181,554            15,563 
Other running costs            11,000              1,000 
Externally Contracted Inspections            40,000             5,000 
TOTAL         232,554            21,563 

Income
Public Health Funding            90,000            10,000 
TOTAL            90,000 10,000

NET         142,554                    11,536 

Page 34



4.2 Staffing 

The Food Hygiene, Food Standards and Feed functions are co-ordinated by the Lead Officer 
(Food) and Lead Officer (Feed) in the Public Protection Service.  The Service also carries out 
a wide range of associated functions including Health and Safety, Commercial Practices, 
Private Water Supplies, Air Quality and Environmental Permitting.

The officers involved in providing Food Hygiene and Food Standards work are professionally  
qualified, have the appropriate experience and competencies, have knowledge of the 
Borough’s food business environment and receive at least 20 hours Continuing Professional 
Development per annum, as required by the FSA’s Code of Practice. They consist of:

Service Manager: (Core) (NR) Lead Officer (Food), Lead Officer (Feed) 
and responsible for a wide range of other 
regulatory functions.
10% of time spent on Food and Feed

Team Leader: Food Hygiene (JH) 80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
Team Leader: Health & Safety / ICT (GPF) 20% of time spent on Food Safety work
Team Leader: Commercial Practices (GS) 15% of time spent on Food Standards work
Senior Public Protection Officers 
(DM, GW, GS)
(KA)
(PM)

80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
50% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
35% of time spent on Food Hygiene work

Team Leader (LB)
Senior Officer (SA)

10% of each officer’s time spent on 
Infectious disease investigations by 
Communities Team

Admin Officer (MP) 100% of time on Food Safety work 

Feed Safety work is provided by appropriately qualified officers from Oldham’s Trading 
Standards Service.

4.3 Staff Development Plan

The training and development of staff is essential to ensure that officers are able to carry out 
their duties effectively. Each year, officers are asked to identify their needs as far as training is 
concerned during Performance and Development Reviews. Managers then assess these 
against the needs of the service in order to ensure that the appropriate 20 hours of Continuing 
Professional Development training are attained.

Training for staff is provided in a number of ways:

 induction training for new members of staff;
 courses provided by the Council’s Communications Team & Virtual College;
 training provided by the FSA through the AGMA Food Liaison Group and TSNW Food 

and Feed Groups;
 courses and seminars provided by external organisations;
 in-house training including team meetings and instruction provided on-the-job and on a 

one-to-one basis; and
 regional team meetings ie AGMA Food Group
 subscription to ABC Training online provider

Page 35



Officers attending external courses and seminars as appropriate are expected to cascade the 
learning and give a presentation to the rest of the team. This can range from a simple 
overview of the event to a more formal presentation providing considerable detail; including 
copies of hand-outs, etc.

5. Quality Assessment

The documented procedures have been reviewed to verify conformance with the FSA 
Framework Agreement, relevant legislation, codes of practice, documented policies and 
procedures. These include:

 monitoring of officers work by the Team Leaders and Service Manager;
 inspection targets;
 team meetings;
 accompanied inspections;
 one-to-one meetings with officers;
 identification of training needs;
 review of documents; and
 review of complaints against the service.

6. Performance

6.1 Review against the Service Plan

The Service Manager and Team Leaders monitor and review performance against the Service 
Action Plan at monthly 1-2-1 meetings; team meetings (every 6 weeks); and on an annual 
basis. 

A full annual review is carried out during April each year to enable the annual local authority 
performance return to be completed and submitted to the Food Standards Agency. 
Performance data is included in the subsequent years annual Service Plan and is reported to 
elected members via Cabinet. 

Increased resources over the last year have resulted in increased performance, increased 
activity output and increased outcomes for the Borough. The performance for the year 
2016/17 was as follows:

Page 36



6.1.1 Food Hygiene

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding

A (Highest Risk) 53 53 0 

B 164 164 0

C 564 564 0

D 505 505 0

E (Lowest Risk) 141 141 0 

Unrated 308 308 0 

TOTAL 1735 1735 (100%) 0

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

A (Highest Risk) 1 

B 42

C 342

D 589

E (Lowest Risk) 512

TOTAL 1468 (91%)

(88% in 2015/16 

Enforcement Actions Premises Numbers
Voluntary Closure 15

Improvement Notice 8

Advisory Notice 993

TOTAL 1022

Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

69 microbiological 
analysis

65 (94%) 4 (6%)

(10% in 2015/16)

Page 37



Complaints Number

Food 407

Hygiene of Premises 156

TOTAL 563

(343 in 2015/16)

6.1.2 Food Standards          

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding
High (A) 2 1 1

Med (B) 118 34 84

Low (C) 795 71 724

Unrated 2 2 0

TOTAL 917 108 (12%) 809 (88%)

(96% in 2015/16)

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

High (A) 1

Med (B) 354

Low (C) 1195

TOTAL 1550 (96%)

(95% in 2015/16)

Enforcement Actions Number

Written warnings 108

(72 in 2015/16)

Prosecutions 1

(0 in 2015/16)

Page 38



Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

17 analysed 13 (76%) 4 (24%)

(30% in 2015/16)

Complaints Number

Food 41
(35 in 2015/16)

6.1.3 Feed

Category Inspections
Alternative 

Enforcement 
Strategies

A1-A8/R1-R3/R5/A11 (Distributor) 2 0

R7 (Supplier of surplus food) 5 1

R8 (Transporter) 2 0

R10 (On Farm Mixer) 2 0

R12 (Co Products) 4 0

R13 (Livestock) 9 0

TOTAL:

24

(100%)

1

(100%)

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan

6.2.1 Food Hygiene

None - all due inspections were completed meaning the inspection programme was 100% 
completed. 

6.2.2 Food Standards 

The additional Public Health funding allowed for an increased number of food standards 
inspections to be carried during the year, however a large proportion of the premises due for 
inspection remain outstanding. The proposed use of alternative enforcement strategies for the 
lower risk premises and a risk based approach to the unrated / yet to be assessed premises 
aims to reduce this number during 2017/18. 

Page 39



6.2.3 Feed

None - all 24 of the funded feed visits were carried out, and 1 alternative enforcement strategy 
was undertaken. All work was carried out on this Council’s behalf by suitably-qualified 
colleagues from Oldham Council. 

6.3 Areas for Improvement

It is acknowledged that the Public Protection Service was not compliant with the requirements 
of the FSA’s Code of Practice on inspection frequency in previous years. The audit conducted 
by the FSA in March 2015 concentrated on food hygiene and raised the profile and priority of 
this work within the Council. Additional resource and a significant amount of effort by officers 
and management has been put into place to address this. The Service is very proud that 
these efforts have eradicated the backlog of “due inspections” and allowed the full inspection 
programme to be completed for food hygiene.

The shift to the FSA risk rating criteria has resulted in a large number of unrated / yet to be 
assessed premises. It is intended to address these premises in a risk based approached 
informed by the historical NTSB risk rating. 

Feed work will continue to be undertaken at the capacity dictated by the available funding via 
Trading Standards North West.

6.4 Future Challenges

The following areas have been identified as challenges to effective, compliant Food Safety 
and Feed Safety service delivery for 2017/18; 

6.4.1 Resources

A historical lack of resource within the Service resulted in identification of areas in need of 
improvement by the FSA in March 2015. It is acknowledged that these areas have 
successfully been addressed. The challenge moving forward is to ensure that the Service 
maintains the improvements made and does not revert back to under-performance. The key 
to maintain performance is to maintain an appropriate level of resource to enable compliance 
with the FSA Code of Practice on inspection frequency.

The current resources available to the Service in 2017/18 allow a variety of interventions to be 
delivered.  In–house officers provide a high quality, consistent service including programmed 
inspections at the higher risk premises, reactive interventions in relation to complaints and 
intelligence received, enforcement action, proactive interventions raising awareness for 
consumers and providing business supporting and bespoke advice. The additional revenue 
resource funds additional officers and allows the purchase of high numbers of inspections at 
medium and lower risk premises. 

The current contract for inspections and the procurement process has shown that 
procurement in an open market can drive down unit costs and the purchase of high numbers 
of inspections can provide high value for money. Rochdale has worked with STaR 
procurement to develop a framework to procure inspections for all 10 GM local authorities. It 
is anticipated that this framework will further drive down costs due to the greater buying power 
of the 10 local authorities. 

Page 40



6.4.2 Legislative

Exiting the EU will have an impact on Food Law in the UK. Many legislative changes will need 
to be implemented to ensure standards are embedded into UK legislation;

The FSA have recently published a paper “regulating our future” which sets out fundamental 
changes on how English local authorities regulate food businesses. It recognised that the 
global food market has changed dramatically over the years and that regulation needs to keep 
up. It proposes enhanced registration and segmentation of food businesses, introduces  
assurance schemes, whilst retaining some inspection role for LAs; 

The Food Law Code of Practice (2017) implemented a requirement to ensure qualified officers 
have 20 hours continuing Professional Development per annum;

Revised Feed Law Code of Practice (2015);

Food Information Regulations 2014 and the allergen labelling requirement (December 2014) 
for all food; prepacked and non-prepacked;

In Wales and Northern Ireland charges for Food Hygiene Rating rescore visits are in place. 
FSA England have advised that LA’s can now put in place a mechanism for cost recovery 
from businesses. GM local authorities have proposed a standardised fee of £165 for a rescore 
under the Food Hygiene Rating Score scheme. In line with Primary Authority charges, 
propose a charge for bespoke advisory visits at £79 per hour.

Page 41



 

 

 

 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London WC2B 6NH 
T 020 7276 8202 
E mark.davis@foodstandards.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Mr S Rumbelow   
Chief Executive 
Rochdale Borough Council  
 
By email 
 
5 May 2017 Reference: EPA 30/811 
 
Dear Mr Rumbelow 
 
FOOD STANDARDS AGENCY AUDIT OF SERVICE DELIVERY AND FOOD 
BUSINESS COMPLIANCE - Rochdale Borough Council -  
17-15 March 2015 
 
I am writing to you in regard to the above audit of Rochdale Borough Council 
and your authority’s progress in implementing the agreed Action Plan. The 
most recent update was provided by Nicola Rogers Service Manager 
(Communities) Public Protection.    
   
We have reviewed the information provided and the Action Plan has now 
been fully implemented. The completed Action Plan will be placed on the 
Agency’s website and our files for the audit will be closed.   
 
We will continue to monitor the delivery of official controls for food by the 
Authority via the Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System.  
 
I would like to thank you and your staff for the action taken to address the 
recommendations in the audit report. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Mark Davis 
Head of Regulatory Division Assurance Team 
Regulatory Delivery Division 
 

Page 42



Cc: Nicola Rogers, Service Manager (Communities) Public Protection.    
   
   

Page 43



Report to Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 20th September 2017
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Housing & Environment
Report Author Paul Harris / Janet 

Butterworth
Public/Private Document Public

Playing Pitch Strategy

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy assesses current and future demand for 
formal sports pitches in the borough over the 10 year period from 2016 to 
2026. It provides a framework for resource prioritisation and informed planning 
decisions.  It is a living document that will be reviewed on an annual basis to 
keep pace with the changing sports landscape in the borough. 

The Strategy has been developed through consultation with Sport England, 
the pitch sport National Governing Bodies, sports clubs, league associations, 
schools and colleges.  It has been informed through a review of the borough’s 
sports pitches and ancillary facilities.

The Strategy is set in the context of the Council’s community strategy and 
corporate plan and has close links with the Asset Strategy and the Local Plan.  
It recognises the important contribution made by sport in the local economy 
and in delivering corporate objectives.

The key aims of the strategy are
 an up to date audit and review of all the formal pitch sport assets in the 

borough including those managed by others
 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches 

(including ancillary facilities).
 A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for 

the improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch 
stock.

 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework 
for sport led improvements to provision.

 A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed 
necessary).

 A sound evidence base to support planning policy and decisions

The strategy focuses on the main pitch sports of cricket, football, hockey, 
lacrosse, rounders, rugby league and rugby union.  It covers all pitches in the 
borough not just those owned by the council. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



1.5

Overall the findings suggest that the borough currently has:
 Shortfalls of junior football provision and moderate spare capacity of 

adult and mini football pitches
 Shortfalls of cricket provision
 Rugby Union pitches are being played to capacity
 Rugby League pitches are being played to capacity
 Hockey pitches are being played to capacity
 Lacrosse pitches are being played to capacity
 Rounders pitches are being played to capacity
 There is a shortfall of 1 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) to meet current 

training demand

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at 
Heywood Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre 
and Firgrove.  

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

To consider and review the draft Playing Pitch Strategy.

Following consultation the final sign off of the strategy be delegated to the 
Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and the Environment.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Strategy will allow the council to move forward with its management of 
sports pitches in the borough.  It sets out a clear framework and action plan for 
improvement and investment in facilities across the borough. It will allow the 
council to collect contributions from developers towards formal sports 
provision for the borough.  It will open up opportunities for clubs to apply for 
external funding to support their growth and development aspirations. 

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

An adopted Playing Pitch Strategy is recommended best practice.  
The Strategy has been produced in accordance with the Sport England 
Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance.  Sport England and the pitch sport governing 
bodies have worked closely with the council in the development of the strategy 
and given their approval to this final version.

The assessment shows there are no surpluses of pitch provision and that 
some currently unused sites may be required to be brought back into use to 
meet future demand.

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at 
Heywood Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre 
and Firgrove.  

Page 45



4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

Where these hubs don’t currently offer the full range of sports and facilities it is 
proposed that they are supported by key school sites to supplement the offer. 

A hierarchy of sites is proposed to help channel resources and investment.

The draft Playing Pitch Strategy was approved by Cabinet for consultation in 
October 2016.  The response to the consultation from the public was limited 
but some strong feelings were expressed through the Township committees. 
Sport England, the FA and other pitch sport governing bodies also made 
comments. 

These views have been considered and changes have been made to the 
strategy as a result. Sport England has reviewed the figures for population 
growth in the borough and has reviewed the capacity available at key sites, 
which has brought down the potential spare capacity in the borough and has 
highlighted a potential future shortfall of junior pitches in the borough.
The FA has reviewed the proposals regarding artificial pitches in line with its 
own revised strategy and has suggested that a further full sized AGP is 
required to meet training needs.

The revisions have not affected the overall direction of the strategy.  The aims 
of the strategy align with Sport England’s aims to PROTECT playing pitches 
for formal sports; to ENHANCE facilities where this is needed to meet the 
needs of a particular sport or club or to increase capacity to meet demand; 
and to PROVIDE facilities where they do not currently exist.

The amended strategy shows how these issues will be addressed and how 
resources will be prioritised in accordance with the hierarchy of sites.
The amended draft strategy and action plan is attached as Appendix 1.

There are still some issues outstanding with Sport England but these are 
matters of detail and will not affect the overall direction and objectives of the 
strategy.  The strategy cannot be fully finalised until it has been signed off by 
Sport England and the pitch sport governing bodies.

Alternatives Considered
The council could not adopt a Playing Pitch Strategy.  This would make it 

Page 46



difficult for the council to seek developer contributions and for local clubs to 
seek funding support from Sport England and other funding bodies.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are no direct cost or budget implications associated with the adoption of 
the strategy.

A number of sites within the borough require improvements and investment.  
The extent of this investment has not been quantified at this stage.  This work 
will be funded as much as possible from S106 contributions and external 
sources.

Risk and Policy Implications

There is a risk that without an adopted strategy the council would not be able 
to collect developer contributions (S106)
There is a risk that without an adopted strategy Sport England and the Sports 
Governing bodies will not consider applications for external funding from the 
council or from any sports club in the borough.
The Playing Pitch Strategy provides an important evidence base to support 
relevant policies within the recently adopted Local Plan as well as 
subsequent policies within the emerging Allocations Development Plan 
Document.  These policies are used in planning decisions and therefore it is 
important that they are underpinned by an up to date assessment of need.

6.

Consultation

7. Consultation with the township committees took place in October 2016
Consultation with the public took place from the end of October 2016 until 
January 2017
Consultation on this report has taken place with Equalities, Finance and 
Legal.  Their comments have been incorporated in the report text

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Assessment Report 2016 Estates and Assets, N1R

For Further Information Contact: Paul Harris, Tel: 01706 923269, 
paul.harris@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 47



Rochdale Borough Council

Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026

Page 48



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Document Control

Rochdale Borough Council Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026

Summary

Publication Date September 2016

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation n/a

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Rochdale Borough Council Asset Strategy
Adopted Core Strategy
Sport England Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance

Replaces n/a

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint
Strategy Owner 
(Name/Position) Mark Widdup, Director of Neighbourhoods

Strategy Author 
(Name/Position)

Janet Butterworth, Property Strategy Officer
Paul Harris, Project Manager
Nick Barton, Principal Project Manager

Applies to All formal outdoor playing pitch facilities within 
Rochdale Borough

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date n/a

Review undertaken by

Next Review Date January 2018

Document Approvals

This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version 
Number

Strategic Asset 
Management Group

Playing Pitch Strategy Steering 
Group

21st September 
2016 Draft

Page 49



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 3

Name Title Date of Issue Version 
Number

Strategic Asset 
Management Group

Playing Pitch Strategy Steering 
Group 26th July 2017 Final Draft

Councillor Emmott Cabinet Member for Housing 
and the Environment

Cabinet 29th August 
2017

Richard Fordham/Fiona 
Pudge Sport England

Alice Watson /  Shaun 
Burke The Football Association

Carol Doran / John Mc 
Mullen Rugby Football League

Tom Bartram / George 
Glen Rugby Union

Julie Longden England Hockey
Dan Musson/ Fiona 
Prescott England Cricket Board

Bobby Denning Lancashire Cricket Board

Page 50



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 4

FOREWORD

Rochdale Council is proud of the sporting 
traditions in the borough.  As a council we 
have invested heavily in new sports 
facilities with a new Sports centres at 
Middleton, Rochdale and Heywood.  
Through the Building Schools for the 
Future capital investment programme we 
have developed new facilities at many of 
our secondary schools.     We are keen to 
ensure our communities and residents get 
maximum use and benefit from these 
facilities.

I would like to pay tribute to the 
thousands of people who take part in 
sports activities every week and in 
particular to the volunteers, parents and 
coaches who make sure our young people 
have this opportunity. Rochdale strongly 
recognises the importance of team sports 
across the borough, not only for the 
health and well-being of its communities, 
families and individuals but also in 
recognition of the vast volunteering 
contribution sports clubs and teams 
make.  

We want to improve our sporting offer 
but are mindful that we have to do this in 
a way that remains sustainable for the 
long term.  Rochdale, like most councils,  
has had to meet government efficiency 
savings therefore we have had to take 
tough decisions to rationalise our services 
and assets.

Sport England estimates the wider 
economic value of volunteering to the 
borough is £27.4 million added to 1392 
jobs and a direct sporting economic value 
of £55.3 million.   I am very pleased to 
report that this strategy fits succinctly 
with the councils’ corporate priorities for 

the borough’s prosperity, people and 
place making.

As champion of the strategy it is of great 
importance to me that we ensure that 
clubs, teams and participation is sustained 
and that through the invaluable role 
sports clubs and teams play we can 
encourage greater numbers of our 
residents to become active and benefit 
from team participation.

I was very pleased to learn that none of 
our community clubs have been displaced 
out of the borough and I am keen that this 
should remain the case for the duration of 
the strategy and beyond.

Our ambition is to ensure those who want 
to participate in sports can easily access 
sports fairly and in an affordable way.  We 
are seeking a sustainable sporting offer 
for Rochdale. 

Councillor Neil Emmott

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Environment

Page 51

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=289


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 5

Contents
Rochdale Borough Council ...................................................................................................1
Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026........................................................................................1
Document Control.....................................................................................................................2
FOREWORD ...............................................................................................................................4
Executive Summary...................................................................................................................7
PART 1: Introduction .................................................................................................................9

Structure................................................................................................................................9
Context ................................................................................................................................10
Vision...................................................................................................................................13

PART 2: Aims ...........................................................................................................................15
PART 3: Sport Specific Issues Scenarios and Recommendations ............................................16

Football pitches – Grass ......................................................................................................16
Artificial Grass Pitches .........................................................................................................17
Cricket pitches .....................................................................................................................21
Rugby Football Union ..........................................................................................................22
Rugby league pitches...........................................................................................................23
Hockey pitches (AGPs).........................................................................................................23
Lacrosse ...............................................................................................................................24
Rounders .............................................................................................................................24
Bowling greens ....................................................................................................................24

PART 4: Strategic Recommendations......................................................................................25
Recommendation a – Protect playing field sites through local planning policy..................25

PART 5: ACTION PLAN .............................................................................................................42
Introduction.........................................................................................................................42
Action plan ..........................................................................................................................42

ROCHDALE (BOROUGH) SUMMARY........................................................................................44
Heywood Summary – Sub Area A........................................................................................48
Middleton Summary Sub Area B .........................................................................................53
Pennines Summary – Area C ...............................................................................................58
Rochdale Summary – Area D ...............................................................................................63

Page 52



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 6

Executive Summary
The Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy has been developed following best practice guidance 
from Sport England. It assesses current and future demand for formal sports pitches in the 
borough over the 10 year period from 2016 to 2026. It provides a framework for resource 
prioritisation and informed planning decisions.  It will be a living document that will be 
reviewed on an annual basis to keep pace with the changing sports landscape in the 
borough.

The Strategy has been developed through consultation with Sport England, the pitch sport 
National Governing Bodies , sports clubs, league associations, schools and colleges.  It has 
been informed through a review of the borough’s sports pitches and ancillary facilities.

The Strategy is set in the context of the Council’s community strategy and corporate plan 
and has close links with the Asset Strategy and Local Development Framework.  It 
recognises the important contribution made by sport in the local economy and in delivering 
corporate objectives.

The key aims of the strategy are
 an up to date audit and review of all the outdoor sports assets and outdoor facilities 

including those managed by others
 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches (including 

ancillary facilities).
 A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for the 

improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch stock.
 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework for sport led 

improvements to provision.
 A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed necessary).

The strategy focuses on the main pitch sports of cricket, football, hockey, lacrosse, rounders, 
rugby league and rugby union.  It covers all pitches in the borough not just those owned by 
the council. 

In total over 300 pitches have been reviewed and assessed and consultation has been 
undertaken with over 500 playing teams, education establishments, leagues and governing 
bodies.

Overall the findings suggest that the borough currently has:
 Shortfalls of junior football provision and moderate spare capacity of adult and mini 

football pitches
 Shortfalls of cricket provision
 Rugby Union pitches are being played to capacity
 Rugby League pitches are being played to capacity
 Hockey pitches are being played to capacity
 Lacrosse pitches are being played to capacity
 Rounders pitches are being played to capacity
 There is a shortfall of 1 3G Artificial Grass Pitch to meet current training demand

The assessment shows there are no surpluses of pitch provision and that some currently 
unused sites may be required to be brought back into use to meet future demand. 

Page 53



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 7

Where sites are deemed to be inappropriately located or unsustainable these will need to be 
replaced in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 74 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy1 and the Council’s Core Strategy.

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at Heywood 
Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre and Firgrove.  

Where these hubs don’t currently offer the full range of sports and facilities it is proposed 
that they are supported by key school sites to supplement the offer. 

A hierarchy of sites is proposed to help channel resources and investment.

Strategy Recommendations
1. Protect all existing pitches and ancillary facilities through local planning policy
2. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs 

through a range of solutions and partnership agreements
3. Maximise community use of outdoor sports facilities where there is a need to 

do so
4. Improve pitch quality
5. Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) for the management and 

improvement of sites
6. Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding
7. Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch stock
8. Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch stock to accommodate both 

current and future demand

The strategy contains a detailed action plan that shows what work and investment is needed 
on a site by site basis.

1 Sport England is a statutory consultee on all planning applications that result in the loss, or prejudice the use of playing fields
Page 54



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 8

PART 1: Introduction

This is the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) for Rochdale. Building upon the preceding 
Assessment Report, it provides a clear, strategic framework for the protection, 
maintenance and improvement of existing outdoor sports pitches and ancillary facilities. 
The purpose of the PPS is to help us to prioritise and target resources where resources 
are limited. The PPS is a rolling document which will be annually refreshed to ensure it 
maintains a robust and up to date evidence base and can respond to changes in 
demand and supply quickly.

The PPS covers the following playing pitches and outdoor pitch sports:

Football pitches (grass and third generation turf (3G))
Cricket pitches
Rugby union pitches
Rugby league pitches
Hockey pitches (artificial grass pitches (AGPs)) 
Lacrosse pitches
Rounders pitches

The study area is the borough of Rochdale.  Sub areas have been created around the 
existing 4 townships to allow a more localised analysis of provision. The four Township 
areas are

Heywood Area A
Middleton Area B
Pennines Area C
Rochdale  Area D

The Strategy is capable of:
Providing adequate planning guidance to assess development proposals affecting 
playing fields, as appropriate, directing open space contributions secured through 
development and informing and shaping local planning policy 

Inform the protection, enhancement and provision of outdoor pitches an associated 
ancillary facilities 

Inform the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, S106 contributions and CIL schedules.

Informing land use decisions in respect of future use of existing outdoor sports areas and 
playing fields (capable of accommodating pitches) across the Borough;
Providing a strategic framework for the provision and management of pitch sports across 
the Borough;
Supporting external funding bids and maximise support for pitch sports facilities;
Providing the basis for on-going monitoring and review of the use, distribution, function, 
quality and accessibility of outdoor sport.

Structure
The Strategy has been developed from research and analysis of playing pitch provision and 
usage within Rochdale to provide:

Page 55



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 9

A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches (including 
ancillary facilities).
A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for the 
improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch stock.
A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework for sport led 
improvements to provision.
A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed necessary).

The Strategy and Action Plan recommends a number of priority projects for Rochdale, which 
should be implemented from 2016 to 2028. It is outlined to provide a framework for 
improvement and, although resources may not currently be in place to implement it, potential 
partners and possible sources of external funding will be identified. The Action Plan will be 
reviewed and updated annually to ensure the actions remain relevant and new unforeseen 
projects can come forward.

The recommendations that come out of this strategy will inform local planning policy and will 
support the local planning evidence base so there is a policy mechanism to support delivery 
and secure provision/investment where the opportunity arises.

There is a need to build key partnerships between the Council, National Governing Bodies of 
Sport (NGBs), Sport England, schools, further education providers, community clubs and 
private landowners to maintain and improve playing pitch provision. In these instances, the 
potential for the Council to take a strategic lead is more limited (except in terms of Section 
106 Agreements/future Community Infrastructure Levy). This document will provide clarity 
about the way forward, and allow key organisations to focus on the key issues that they can 
directly influence and achieve. 

Context 
This strategy sits within the context of the council’s corporate plan and Asset Management 
Strategy. An internal strategic steering group was already in existence and has been utilised 
to develop this brief, monitor the production of the strategy and oversee its implementation. 
The rationale for the strategy will help to deliver on the broader agenda to increase 
participation in sport and physical activity, which is critical to improving health and wellbeing 
outcomes. The need to address significant health and wellbeing issues is acknowledged in 
the Rochdale Plan in order to ensure there is an active population able to make the most of 
job opportunities and able to play a positive role in social and civic life. In addition:

To help deliver the health agenda 
To inform the investment strategy for Rochdale Council  initiatives
To inform local planning policy, planning decisions and potential developer 
contributions
To inform sports development initiatives
To reflect and inform wider Rochdale Council strategic asset and service reviews
To help facilitate community use of outdoor facilities on education sites

Over half of the adult population in Rochdale borough take less than the recommended 
amount of physical activity per week.  Some people are active and take part in sport on a 
regular basis and there is extensive provision of grass and artificial pitches to cater for their 
needs.  This document sets out our plans and proposals for formal sports pitches in the 
borough.  The proposals are set in the context of national and local policy but we have had 
to make a number of assumptions as there is currently no adopted vision or strategy for 
physical activity in the borough.

Page 56



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 10

Government policy and public health strategy for a number of years have highlighted the 
benefits of physical activity.  Public Health England advises that physical activity is the 4th 
highest cause of premature mortality in the UK and costs the economy some £7.4bn.

In Rochdale over half the population take less than the recommended amount of physical 
activity.  35.9% of adults are inactive compared with the national average of 27.7%.  129 
deaths per year could be prevented through simply being more active.  Inactivity costs the 
Rochdale economy £4.5 million.

A Playing Pitch Strategy alone will not solve these problems but it is a start and highlights 
the opportunities available and the contribution the provision of formal sports facilities can 
make towards delivering the council’s corporate objectives.  At present the council has not 
developed any strategies in this respect. 

The vision for the borough is to become a prosperous borough to grow our economy and 
develop our place through co-operation and partnership improving the lives of local people.
Sport and physical activity can contribute to the delivery of this vision

PEOPLE

we will promote healthy 
safe and happy lives 

through prevention and 
personalisation of care 

growing self esteem 
confidence and 
responsibility

being more active 
everyday increases 
quality of life and 

increases chances of 
leading a healthy and 

independent life

PLACE 

we will create high 
quality places where 
people choose to be

quality and quantity of 
parks and recreational 

spaces encourages people 
to be more active.  The 

right facilities are needed 
in the right place

PROSPERITY

we will grow 
enterprise ambition 

and the skills for 
success

there are 55 sports businesses in 
Rochdale with a turnover of over 
£40million and employing 2.1% of 

the population.  
Volunteering is fundamental to 

sport but this can provide 
individuals with the skills needed to 

find paid work or enhance career 
prospects

The aim of central government’s policy ‘Towards a Sporting Future’ is ‘to harness the power 
of sport to change people’s lives for the better’

The focus of the this Playing Pitch Strategy will be on PLACE – it looks at the facilities 
available for sport and physical activity in the borough and sets out what actions are needed 
to PROTECT playing pitch provision regardless of ownership and community use of such 
facilities for current and future use.  It will look at what opportunities exist to ENHANCE the 
provision to ensure better quality access and better management of the facilities.  We will 
also examine what we need to PROVIDE in terms of additional facilities to cater for unmet 
demand or to provide opportunities for increase participation in key locations amongst hard 
to reach groups.

Sport England’s Vision states “we want everyone in England regardless of age background 
or level of ability to feel able to engage in sport and physical activity some will be young fit 

Page 57



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 11

and talented but most will not.  We need a sports sector that welcomes everyone meets their 
needs treats them as individuals and values them as customers.”

Rochdale Council shares this aspiration and sets outs this strategy as its first steps on this 
journey.

Since the original brief for this project was first approved the Government and Sport England 
have both issued new strategies for sport.  The Governments strategy ‘Sporting Future: A 
New Strategy for an Active Nation’ was published in December 2015 and follows Public 
Health England’s publication ‘Everybody Active Everyday’.  It represents the biggest shift in 
policy on sport in a decade and is focused on getting people active rather than on elite 
sports.  It recognises that Sport is a key part of local communities and the key role that local 
authorities have in understanding these communities, recognising opportunities and 
encouraging participation.  It also highlights the key role that high quality multi use green 
spaces can have as sporting venues and as alternative settings for sport and healthy activity 
for communities including new audiences that are less likely to use traditional sports centres.  
It identifies a number of partners and linked strategies that the council should seek to work 
with to deliver its objectives.  These include

Health and Well Being Strategy In place in 
Rochdale but 
needs to be 
refreshed

Public Health 

Physical Activity and Sports Strategy Not in place

County Sports 
Partnerships

County Sports Partnerships (CSPs) are committed 
to Improving Lives by Growing Grassroots Sport 
and Physical Activity. We do this by providing a 
range of high quality services and delivering or 
commissioning customer-led solutions in 
collaboration with a wide range of partners, which 
ultimately results in National Reach and Local 
Impact.

Greater Sport

Sport England Government agency tasked with getting more 
people involved in sport and physical activity

Range of 
programmes 
materials and 
resources
Local government 
liaison officer

National Sports 
Governing 
Bodies
School Sports / 
Games 
Partnerships

Established in order to increase the number of 
children and young people taking part in high 
quality Physical Education, School Sport & 
Physical Activity, whilst working to ensure these 
experiences are innovative, high quality and 
engaging.

Based at Cardinal 
Langley High 
School.  Currently 
working with 46 
local schools

Sport and 
Physical Activity 
Alliances / 

A key element in sports delivery network.  Sports 
and Physical Activity Alliances try to get sports 
and physical activity in the local area agreement 

These links need 
to be further 
developed in 

Page 58

http://www.cspnetwork.org/your-csp
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/core-services
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/programmes
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/sectors
http://www.cspnetwork.org/impact


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 12

Community 
Sports Networks

and local public service agreements.  Links closely 
with the CSP

Rochdale

Sport England’s Strategy ‘Towards an Active Nation’ picks up on the change in policy 
direction of ‘Sporting Nation’.  Its focus over the next 5 years will be to increase activity and 
participation in sports and physical activity.  The way it works and what it funds will change 
significantly.  An overview of the Strategy is set out below.  

The focus of a Playing Pitch Strategy is mainly on facilities.  Sport England states that where 
people play sports matters.  Building the right thing in the right place makes taking part in 
sport and physical activity a realistic option for many and a leads to a better experience for 
those who are already engaged.  The Customer will be at the heart of new facilities planning 
and funding – understanding what the community needs and wants and making sure 
facilities work together, not just an individual building or an individual sport.  Multi-sport 
facilities will be favoured for major investment and investment in smaller facilities will change 
– Inspired Facilities funding will be replaced with a new community asset fund to include 
helping communities take ownership of local assets.  Every investment programme will be 
underpinned by 3 clear elements and the remit for projects will not just be sport but also 
physical activity.

 Clear Objectives
 Excellent insight
 Thorough evaluation

The clear messages from the government and Sport England are that people need to be 
more active – this is the focus of their strategies and where funding will be directed.

We have tried to reflect this change in direction in our recommendations and actions in this 
Playing Pitch Strategy.  We have looked at our existing stock of facilities and consulted with 
those who supply and use them. 

Vision
This study has been developed on the basis of the above strategic drivers in order to ensure 
that it reflects the Council’s wider ambitions. A vision has been set out to provide a clear 
focus with desired outcomes for the Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy:

“To ensure that sufficient pitches are provided of a good quality and which support the 
needs of each sport and club in Rochdale. This provision should be sufficient and flexible 
to deal with current and projected increases in demand”

Page 59



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 13

P
age 60



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 14

PART 2: Aims
It is recommended that the following Strategy Aims are adopted by the Council and its 
partners to enable it to achieve the overall vision of the Strategy:  

The three main themes of the strategy also reflect Sport England’s planning aim and 
objectives for sport; namely:

Figure 1: Sport England Planning for Sport objectives

AIM 1
To protect the existing supply of sports facilities where it is needed for meeting current or 
future needs

AIM 2
To enhance outdoor sports facilities through improving quality and management of sites

AIM 3
To provide new outdoor sports facilities where there is current or future demand to do so

Page 61



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 15

PART 3: Sport Specific Issues Scenarios and 
Recommendations

In order to help develop the recommendations/actions and to understand their potential 
impact a number of relevant scenario questions are tested against the key issues in this 
section for the playing pitch sports resulting in the sport specific recommendations.

Football pitches – Grass

Key Issues
Although the overall picture for football is one of spare capacity across all pitch types, 
the spare capacity is across a large number of pitches.  There are only 20 pitches 
that are not being used at all and they are all on existing sites where other pitches 
are in use. 
Football has the highest number of pitches and the greatest participation of any pitch 
based sport in the borough. 
116 pitches on 39 sites. 
Most pitches are rated as standard or good.  Only 5 pitches were rated as poor.
83% of pitches are secured for community use.
12 lapsed and disused sites.
8 sites with 9 pitches  are over played.
There are sufficient adult and mini pitches boroughwide to meet current and future 
demand to 2028 but insufficient junior pitches to meet current and future demand.

Scenarios – Grass
At the 9 pitches where there is over play the pitches are rated as standard.  Current overplay 
equates to 24 match equivalent sessions. Improving quality to good would increase capacity 
by 9 match equivalent sessions reducing the deficit to 15 match equivalent sessions per 
week. It is clear improving quality alone will not address the issue of overplay.

At the sites where there is over play this is mainly related to the format of the game being 
played on the incorrect size of pitch, i.e.  youth football being played on an adult football 
pitch.  Over marking pitches increases the amount of play and therefore exacerbates the 
overplay. If adult pitches with spare capacity were to be remarked as youth pitches this 
would alleviate the overplay by 19 match equivalent sessions, theoretically putting youth 
football into a position of spare capacity equating to 4 match equivalent sessions.  However, 
work would need to be undertaken to make sure the converted adult pitches are in the right 
location and are accessible to meet demand for youth football.

Recommendations - Grass
Ensure existing maintenance of good quality pitches continues. Where pitches are 
assessed as standard or poor quality and/or overplayed, review/improve 
maintenance regimes to ensure it is of an appropriate standard to sustain/improve 
pitch quality. Maintenance needs to be at a level that is sustainable both by the 
council and by the clubs.  

Transfer play on sites which are played to capacity or overplayed to alternative 
venues which are not operating at capacity or are not currently available for 
community use. 

Page 62



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 16

Work to accommodate displaced, latent and overplay on sites which are not 
operating at capacity or work with providers of sites to open up sites which are 
currently unavailable for community use. 

Consider reconfiguring pitches in order to meet current and future demand.

Work with schools to maximise access to secondary schools and academies to 
address latent, displaced or future demand and to develop school-club links. 

Where appropriate, develop partnership and/or lease arrangements with large, 
sustainable, development-minded clubs to manage their own ‘home’ sites thus 
facilitating club development.

Assess the feasibility of bringing lapsed/disused sites back into use.

Artificial Grass Pitches

Key Issues
There are 16 Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs) in the borough; 15 are 3G and 2 are 
sand based.  Of those 5 are small sided 3G and 5 full sized 3G.Of the 16 AGPs only 
12 are available for community use.
There is 1 full size AGP at Heywood Sports Village that is temporarily closed due to 
refurbishment.  Once this is complete there will be 8 operational full size 3G AGPs.
There is only one full sized sand based AGP suitable for hockey use.
All apart from Heywood Sports Village are education sites.  
AGPs are evenly distributed across the borough and sub areas but there are no full 
sized 3G AGPs in the Heywood and Pennines areas, only small sized AGPs.
5 pitches are FA or FIFA accredited.
There are no World Rugby accredited AGPs in the borough.
Community use is limited at some sites.
1 site (St Mary’s RC Primary School) is at capacity.
Although there appears to be spare capacity the hours are generally outside of the 
AGP peak period.

Scenarios AGPs
The FA has asked the council to consider a scenario whereby play is transferred from local 
authority managed grass pitches to AGPs.

During the last decade 3G FTPs have played an increasing role within the national game.  
They are regarded by the Football Association (FA) as the optimum facility for training by 
clubs.  In recent seasons they have also become more popular for competitive matches.  
With this in mind, before developing the recommendations and action plan for this PPS, two 
scenarios have been looked at to help with understanding what demand there may be for full 
size2 floodlit 3G FTPs in Rochdale Borough if increased amounts of play were to take place 
on them.   

In order to do so, information from the ‘Assessment’ stage of developing this PPS, alongside 
details from the FA, have been used to help answer the following questions:

2  A full size 3G FTP measuring 106m x 70m including run off/safety margins.
Page 63



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 17

How many full size floodlit 3G FTPs may be required to meet demand within Rochdale 
Borough if:

 All teams playing competitive football had access to a full size floodlit 3G FTP to train 
on once a week?

 All matches for teams currently playing competitive football on Rochdale managed 
natural grass pitches were played on full size floodlit 3G FTPs?    

The answers to these questions are set out below and are based on full sized floodlit 3G 
FTPs which have full community use during peak periods3.  However, the results should be 
viewed as providing an indication of the ‘full size pitch equivalents’ that may be required to 
meet training demanded.  In practice, the most appropriate ways of meeting any such 
increase in demand will vary depending on the nature of the local area.  For example, in 
some areas new full size floodlit FTPs may be appropriate, whereas in others small sided 
provision to cater for increased training use, or securing greater community use/hours of 
existing provision may be the best way forward.

Given the above, what the answers may mean for the Rochdale borough area, taking into 
account the wider findings from the Assessment stage of developing the PPS, is also 
presented below.  These details have been used to help inform the development of the 
PPS’s recommendations and the action plan. 

Scenario Results
If all teams playing competitive football had access to a full size floodlit 3G FTP to train on 
once a week.

As a guide the FA suggests that 1 full size floodlit 3G FTP could potentially 
accommodate this training demand from 42 teams (Ratio of 1:424).
The information from the Assessment stage of this PPS indicates that there are 194 
teams playing competitive football in Rochdale.
Using the FA’s 1:42 ratio suggests that 5 (rounded up from4.60 full size floodlit 3G FTPs 
would be required to meet current training demand within Rochdale.

This equates to:
 1 pitch in Heywood, Area A, (rounded up from 0.66,
  1, pitch in  Area  B Middleton, (rounded down from 1.33), 
  1 pitch in Pennines, Area C (rounded up from 0,88)
 ,2 pitches, in Rochdale Area D (rounded up from 1.73)

If all matches for teams playing competitive football on Rochdale Borough managed natural 
grass pitches were played on full size floodlit 3G FTPs.

The FA is keen to work with LAs to understand the potential demand for full size floodlit 3G 
FTPs should all competitive matches, currently played on LA managed natural grass pitches, 
be transferred to one.

3  Weekdays 17:00 - 21:00 (or 19:00 on Fridays) and 09:00 - 17:00 on weekends.
4 The FA developed the training ratio following their facilities strategy vision to provide all affiliated clubs with access to a 

3G FTP for training. An original ratio of 1:56 was based on a full size pitch providing 56 slots per week (Mon-Thurs 6-9pm, 
Fri 6-8pm). The ratio was subsequently revised to 1:42.  This was due to evidence of a number of local authority areas 
reaching the perceived required number of 3G FTP facilities based on the 1:56 ratio yet still evidencing latent demand. 
Further FA analysis of 3G FTP facility usage also showed that many affiliated teams seek more than one slot for training 
and that significant amounts of non FA affiliated and recreational demand also use 3G FTPs during the peak time, 
creating a need for further 3G FTP provision.

Page 64



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 18

Table 1 takes information from the Assessment stage of this PPS to present the number of 
teams playing on LA managed natural grass pitches (not including school sites or sites 
leased to clubs) and the relevant peak periods.

Table 1: Number of teams playing on LA managed natural grass pitches

Pitch Type Pitch Size Peak Period No. of Teams

Adult (11v11) Saturday pm / Sunday am 29
Youth (7v7) 0
Youth (9v9) Saturday Morning 22
Youth (11v11) Saturday morning 15
Mini (5v5) Sunday morning 10
Mini (7v7) Sunday morning 19

The FA suggest an approach (see below) for estimating the number of full size floodlit 3G 
FTPs that teams may demand for competitive matches.  Table 2 presents the results of this 
approach for the teams set out in Table 1. 

Table 2: Number of 3G FTPs that may be required 

Pitch 
Type

Pitch 
Size

number of 
teams

no of 
matches

3G units 
per match

total units 
required

3G pitches 
required

Adult (11v11) 27 13.5 4 54 0.8
Youth (7v7) 0 0 4 0 0.0
Youth (9v9) 13 6.5 8 52 0.8
Youth (11v11) 12 6 10 60 0.9
Mini (5v5) 7 3.5 32 112 1.8
Mini (7v7) 14 7 32 224 3.5

7.8

Transferring all matches for teams currently playing competitive football on Rochdale 
Borough managed natural grass pitches may equate to a demand for 8 full-size floodlit 3G 
FTPs for all the different formats of the game.

The FA approach for estimating the number of full size floodlit 3G FTPs that teams may 
demand for competitive matches is based on:

A team playing a ‘home’ match every other week - therefore dividing the number of 
teams by two with the result rounded up to provide a figure for the number of matches a 
week during the peak period (Table 2 Column y).
A 3G FTP being available for 4 hours5 a day during the peak period (e.g. 10am to 2pm).  
Therefore, all demand being programmed over the four hour period.
Using a unit measure which can be applied to the different formats of the game to 
quantify how a pitch can be used during this 4 hour period (Table 2).  One unit is taken 
as equating to a quarter of a full size 3G FTP for 15 minutes.  Therefore, a full size 3G 

5 The rationale for 4 hours is based on a standard approach for match programming nationally and the ability to facilitate 2 
adult games.

Page 65



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 19

FTP provides 4 units per 15 minutes and 16 units per hour. Across the four hour period 
this totals a capacity of 64 units (16 units per hour x 4 hours). 
As set out in Table 3 below, each format of the game will require a certain amount of 
units of a full size 3G FTP per match based on the required pitch size and match 
duration.    

Table 3: FA set units of a full size 3G FTP per match for each format.

Format of 
the game

No. of 
pitches that 
fit on a full 
size 3G 
FTP

No. of matches 
per hour on a 
full size 3G 
FTP

No. of matches 
per 2 hour 
period on a full 
size 3G FTP

Number 
of units 
per 
match

5v5 4 4 8 4
7v7 2 2 4 8
9v9 2 2 2 10
11v11 Youth 1 0 1 32
11v11 Adult 1 0 1 32

Current Supply
There are currently a total of 8 full size floodlit 3G FTPs available for community use 
and club training, although 1 pitch does not offer secure use and 1 pitch is 
temporarily out of use due to refurbishment.  
5 of the total 3G FTPs are listed on the FA’s 3G FTP register6 and deemed suitable 
for competitive matches.
6 of the total 3G FTPs are available for what could be expected to be the full 
community use hours across the week (or very close to the full hours).  
2 of the total 3G FTPs have particularly restricted community use hours.
There is a further 1 full size 3G FTPs currently unavailable for community use.
There are a further 4 small sided 3G FTP sites that are available for community use 
providing 6 small sided pitches.

What this may mean for 3G FTP provision in Rochdale
This analysis suggests that the borough needs 5 full sized AGPs for training purposes and a 
further 3 if competitive play is moved from grass to AGPs.
There are currently 14 AGPs in the borough but only 8 are full sized, flood lit and available 
for community use.  The current supply of AGPs is well used but mainly for training and 
casual use.  Very few competitive games are currently played on AGPs.

If this approach were to be adopted then this could lead to savings for the council in the long 
term as fewer natural grass pitches would need to be maintained to league play standards.

This scenario looks only at football use but there is a demand for AGPs for hockey and for 
Rugby for training use.

There is a need under this scenario for a full sized pitch in the Pennines sub area.  This 
need is supported elsewhere in the analysis and could potentially be made a dual use facility 
to cater for rugby training needs in the borough. 

6 The FA has established a 3G FTP register to help users identify facilities that are fit for purpose for competitive matches 
http://3g.thefa.me.uk/.

Page 66

http://3g.thefa.me.uk/


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 20

There is a need to retain an AGP suitable for hockey use.  This is currently at Oulder Hill 
School.

Recommendations - AGPs
 Seek to get full sized pitches FA accredited where possible.
 Seek to extend community use at key school sites.
 Work with schools on the development of facilities on school sites so that formal 

sports requirements are considered rather than just filling the pitch to the space 
available.

 St Mary’s School pitch will need replacing in the next 12 months.  
 There is no full sized pitch in the Pennines Area.  There are 3 pitches but all are 

small and one (Milnrow Parish) is not available for community use.  Look to develop 
a business case for a full sized pitch in this area and seek to make it suitable for 
rugby as well as football use.

 The AGP at Oulder Hill School will need replacing within 5 years.  Works with the 
school to secure continued use for hockey.

Cricket pitches

Key issues
There are a number of cricket clubs and pitches in the borough most are owned by the 
clubs, although there are some wickets on school sites.
There are wickets on some council owned sites but these are no longer maintained.
Cricket is widely played on a casual basis throughout the borough – this demand has 
been difficult to capture.
Lancashire Cricket Club asked that Walsden Cricket Club was included in our analysis 
even though it is located outside of the borough because the club plays in the Lancashire 
Pennines League.
All the pitches have been rated as good or standard.
3 pitches are currently over played and a further 3 clubs may struggle to accommodate 
their planned growth.
Currently changing facilities at many clubs would not support the women’s game.
There is no Last Man Standing (LMS) played in the borough.
The ECB is developing a ‘Park Cricket’ form of the game.

Scenarios
Issues of overplay could be addressed through introducing artificial grass wickets and 
encouraging the use of such wickets for competitive play.  An artificial wicket will sustain 60 
match equivalents throughout the season; a grass wicket will sustain only 5.
There is a great deal of casual play in the borough; artificial strips could be installed at the 
key hub sites in the borough to encourage this play and to support other formats of the 
game.

Recommendations - Cricket
Protection of pitches should be retained against all current club sites.  Those schools with 
cricket facilities especially Hollingworth and Wardle Academies, St Cuthbert’s and 
Sandbrook should also be protected.  
The protection of all current pitches will help to ensure the decline in cricket pitches across 
the borough is halted. 

Page 67



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 21

Enhanced provision can be delivered through improved maintenance, better on site 
facilities, reduced unauthorised access and investment in club house and changing 
improvements.  Detailed improvements are shown in the site specific recommendations.  
In addition, capacity issues can be accommodated on those sites with non-turf wickets with a 
change in acceptance of league matches being played on artificial wickets. 

Providing new provision for cricket in the form of non-turf wickets is planned in each of the 
four townships to redress the decline in grass cricket pitches and meet the demand of casual 
play.  Locations will be prioritised and selected where they can support a shortfall in capacity 
of adjacent of nearby clubs.  
This work will closely align with the emerging strategic direction for cricket in parks with 
transferable lessons from the pilots already trailed in Bradford and Manchester.  The capital 
investment of an artificial wicket will be funded from Section 106 Formal Sports provision 
with maintenance agreements sought with ECB and local clubs to formulate sustainable 
revenue and business plans. 

Rugby Football Union

Key Issues
There are only 2 rugby union clubs in the borough; Rochdale and Littleborough.
There are 29 teams but only 1 women’s team and 3 girls teams.
Both sites are over played.
Training takes place on dedicated pitches. 
There is demand for increased training facilities.

Scenarios
Significant improvements are required to the maintenance programme at Rochdale 
Moorgate RUFC. If maintenance was increased from poor to good across the five 
pitches this would increase capacity by 4.5 match sessions per week which would 
address overplay and bring the site into a position of playing to capacity but further 
capacity would be required to meet future demand. Alternatively increasing maintenance 
to standard and further reducing training on the match pitch through access to a 
dedicated floodlit training area would also address shortfalls.
Similarly increasing pitch maintenance from poor to good quality at Littleborough RUFC 
would increase weekly capacity by 1 match sessions for each pitch and would also 
address overplay and also build a small amount of future capacity.
Securing additional land for training purposes at Littleborough would reduce the play on 
the match pitches.
Improvements to the club house and changing facilities at Littleborough would help with 
player retention and support the growth of women’s teams.

Recommendations – Rugby Football Union
Address overplay at Rochdale RUFC via improvements to maintenance schedule and 
increasing the number of floodlit pitches to ensure that game time and training time can 
be appropriately managed to avoid overuse of one pitch. Consider the potential for a 
floodlit AGP either on site or refurbishment of an existing AGP in the area to meet World 
Rugby regulations. 
The pitches at Littleborough RUFC would greatly benefit from a new drainage system. 
Consider the allocation of S106 monies to assist Littleborough RUFC with improvements 
to the club house.

Page 68



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 22

Review council land ownership in the vicinity of Littleborough RUFC to see if additional 
land for training could be made available. 
To work with schools and/or academies to maximise access to pitches currently 
unavailable for community use that are located on educational sites. 

Rugby league pitches

Key issues
 There are 3 rugby league clubs in the borough; 2 in Rochdale and 1 in Pennines.
 Capacity issues exist at Rochdale Mayfield and at Littleborough due to shared use of the 

sites with rugby union, football and cricket at Littleborough and with football only at 
Mayfield.

 Changing inadequacy highlighted at Firgrove.
 Floodlighting for training highlighted by all clubs.
 Demand can be met across all pitches if training is moved off the current pitches.

Scenarios
 Littleborough RLFC shares a ground with Littleborough RUFC.  The scenarios set out for 

rugby union above apply here also.
 Improved maintenance at Mayfield RLFC would help to improve capacity.  The 

development of an additional pitch for training would also assist. Consider the potential 
of an AGP within the area that is rugby compliant.

 Improvements to the pitches and changing rooms at Firgrove will assist Rochdale 
Cobras.  

Recommendations – Rugby League
 Where pitches are assessed as standard or poor quality, review maintenance regimes to 

ensure it is of an appropriate standard to sustain/improve pitch quality.
 Work to reduce training on match pitches through access to dedicated training areas.
 Improvements to be carried out at Firgrove to changing rooms and showers.
 Mayfield has secured funding for pitch improvements.

Hockey pitches (AGPs)

Key issues
o There are 2 hockey clubs in the borough – one mens and 1 ladies.  Both clubs play on 

the same site (Oulder Hill School).
o No capacity or demand issues recorded.

Recommendations – Hockey Pitches
o Protect the AGP at Oulder Hill School for use by the hockey clubs as a priority. 
o The council/ planning authority should plan for always having at least one full sized sand 

based/filled, floodlit AGP suitable for and meeting the criteria for competitive hockey and 
training.

Page 69



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 23

Lacrosse
o 1 club; all male.
o 7 teams; 3 adult; 4 teams U19; U16; U14; U12.
o 2 pitches used on 1 club owned site.
o No capacity or demand issues.

Recommendations - Lacrosse
o Support the club in its development activities.

Rounders
 Rounders is widely played in the borough and in schools but there is only 1 Ladies 

League comprising 28 teams all ladies aged 16+. 
 League plays at Firgrove over 6 pitches.
 Changing not used only WC.
 Site/ pitch satisfaction very high.
 Some capacity issues:
 Play commences after football season ends.
 Location can clash with Rugby League pitches.
 Unlikely demand issues from league only.

Future Picture of Provision
The future picture of rounders will depend on the sustainability and survival of the league 
and committee; however, a number of Link4Life staff are involved in rounders either 
personally and through continued annual funding from Rounders England to grow 
interest in the game, develop coaching and skills.

Bowling greens
Bowling greens have not been officially assessed as part of this playing pitch strategy 
however Crown green bowling is popular in Rochdale borough.  It is a distinctive part of 
the sporting and cultural scene and is popular with many older people who do not take 
part on other active sports. The Sport England Active People survey suggests that the 
numbers participating in the sport is declining.

The council provides 24 bowling greens in 20 locations throughout the borough.  9 are 
located within formal parks, 7 are within smaller recreation areas and 8 are stand-alone 
facilities.  All except Summit have at least one pavilion or building for use by the bowlers.

In addition to the council facilities there are at least 16 private greens / clubs throughout 
the borough

Recommendations – Bowling Greens
 Undertake a formal review of bowing green supply and demand.
 Address spare capacity and maximise the availability of bowling greens for pay and play 

in order to raise the profile of the game, increase levels of membership and the revenue 
generated by sites.

 Support clubs which plan to attract younger people through hosting events such as 
family days as well as establishing links with local primary schools.

 Where demand exists, ensuring that quality is sustained or improved.
Page 70



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 24

PART 4: Strategic Recommendations
The strategic recommendations for the Strategy have been developed from the key issues 
cutting across all outdoor sports and categorised under each of the Strategy Aims. They 
reflect overarching and common areas to be addressed which apply across outdoor sports 
facilities and may not be specific to just one sport. 

Recommendation a – Protect playing field sites through local planning 
policy
The PPS Assessment shows that all currently used playing field sites require protection and 
therefore cannot be deemed surplus to requirements because of shortfalls now and in the 
future. Therefore, based on the outcomes of the PPS, local planning policy should reflect this 
situation.

Paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that existing open 
space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built 
on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or

 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.

The protection of recreational open space within the Borough, including playing pitches, was 
covered under policy G/3 ‘Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space’ of the Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP).  The UDP has now been replaced, in part, by the Core Strategy.  
This plan includes policies C8 ‘Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities’ and 
G6 ‘Enhancing green infrastructure’ both of which support the protection and enhancement 
of open spaces, including playing pitches.  However, as the Core Strategy does not include 
any site specific designations, policy G/3 of the UDP is saved until it is replaced by a Site 
Allocations or other Development Plan Document.  Therefore the current policy position 
retains policy G/3 of the UDP which should be read in conjunction with policies C8 and G6 of 
the Core Strategy.

Recommendations:
a. Protect playing field sites through local planning policy.

b. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs, 
through a range of solutions and partnership agreements.

c. Maximise community use of outdoor sports facilities where there is a need to do so.

AIM 1
To protect the existing supply of playing pitch facilities where it is needed for meeting 
current or future needs

Page 71



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 25

The supporting text to policy C8 acknowledges the importance of up to date assessments of 
open space in order to inform decision making.  The Playing Pitch Strategy therefore forms 
an important part of the evidence base going forward and will also help to inform the 
subsequent Site Allocations or other Development Plan Document.  This will form the basis 
for the ongoing protection and enhancement of those pitches which are considered 
necessary to meet the needs of the borough.

Lapsed and disused –  playing field sites that  formerly accommodated playing pitches but 
are no longer used for formal or informal sports use:    

 Disused – sites that are not being used at all by any users and are not available for 
community hire either. Once these sites are disused for five or more years they will 
then be categorised as ‘lapsed sites’.

 Lapsed - last known use was as a playing field more than five years ago. These sites 
fall outside of Sport England’s statutory remit but still have to be assessed using the 
criteria in paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Sport 
England would nonetheless challenge a proposed loss of playing pitches/playing field 
which fails to meet such criteria. 

The following sites have been identified as either disused or lapsed within the assessment 
report and have been included within the action plan:

Site name Sport(s) Status When 
last 
used?

Comments

Balderstone Park Rugby 
union

lapsed 2009 Area has been incorporated into the park, 
part has been developed as a skate park

Balderstone Park 
(formerly 
Balderstone 
School) 

School 
playing 
field

lapsed 2012 To be reinstated as 2 adult pitches for 
public / community use

Hare Hill 
recreation ground

Football lapsed 2006 This site is being used as part of the 
borough’s flood defence measures and is 
no longer available for formal sports use

King George 
playing fields

Football lapsed 2008 Pitches could be reinstated if sufficient 
demand can justify the investment

Lowerplace Football lapsed 2009 Part of the site has been allocated as 
school playing fields 

Mossway playing 
fields  (Alkrington)

Football
Rugby 
League

Temporarily 
closed

2015 Team Alkrington Dynamos now use 
Heywood Sports Village, Hopwood sports 
arena and Cardinal Langley.  This site is 
to be used as a training facility for 
Rochdale Hornets Rugby League Club

Shawclough 
Primary school 

Football Disused 2016 School use many other facilities because 
they cannot use this; it is more of a public 
park because it is not fenced off and is 
not playable for most of the time

Stoneyfield 
Recreation 
Ground

Football lapsed 2008 Used for informal play

Wardle 
Recreation 
Ground and 
Clough St play 
area

Football Disused 2012 Pitch was reinstated in 2016

Page 72



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 26

It is important to understand that where a pitch is identified as being lapsed, underused or of 
poor quality this does not necessarily mean that the facility is surplus to requirements. 
Equally where proposed development is located within access of a high quality playing pitch, 
this does not necessarily mean that there is no need for further pitch provision or 
improvements to existing pitches.

Sport England’s playing field policy only allows for development of lapsed or disused playing 
fields if a PPS shows a clear excess in the quantity of playing pitch provision at present and 
in the future across all sports, the site concerned has no special significance to sport and the 
development involves measures to address any deficiencies in terms of quality or 
accessibility identified by the PPS.  Playing Pitch Strategy guidance similarly states that loss 
of such sites without appropriate replacement should not be considered except in very 
limited circumstances where the assessment has clearly shown:

 That there is an excess of accessible provision with secured community use in the 
study area, and;

 The particular provision at a site deemed to be surplus to requirements does not 
have any special interest to sport. 

The PPS Assessment shows that all currently used playing field sites require protection and 
therefore cannot be deemed surplus to requirements because of shortfalls now and in the 
future. Lapsed, disused, underused and poor quality sites should also be protected from 
development or replaced as there is a need for playing field land to accommodate more 
pitches to meet the identified shortfalls.

It is recommended that the Council allocates all disused/lapsed sites as playing field in the 
first instance until such time as the Council, NGB/Community group or a developer 
expresses an interest in the site.  It is also recommended that the following priority order of 
options is adopted with regards to addressing disused/lapsed sites:

1. Explore the feasibility of bringing the site back into use. A feasibility study may show 
either:

a. The site can be brought back into sustainable use where funding is available 
and use is secured by the Council and relevant NGBs/Community Groups; or

b. The site is not in a sustainable location and in which case no amount of 
money will make it desirable.

2. The site could become public open space to meet a need identified in the Open 
Space Study; or

3. Redevelop the site for an alternative use but use the capital receipt to invest in 
existing sites in the locality.

Each currently disused/lapsed site is included within the action plan together with a 
recommendation in relation to the need to bring the site back into use or mitigate the loss on 
a replacement site to address the shortfalls identified with the Assessment.   

New housing development - where proposed housing development is located within access 
of a high quality playing pitch, this does not necessarily mean that there is no need for 
further pitch provision or improvements to existing pitches in that area in order to 
accommodate additional demand arising from that development. The PPS should be used to 
help determine what impact the new development will have on the demand and capacity of 

Page 73



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 27

existing sites in the area, and whether there is a need for improvements to increase capacity 
or if new provision is required.

Future Housing Growth – calculations have been undertaken using Sport England’s New 
Development Pitch Calculator and Sports Facility Calculator to estimate the additional 
demand generated by housing by sport and pitch type. These figures have been included in 
the future demand column of each of the demand / supply tables contained within the 
Assessment Report.

Development management - the PPS should be used to help inform Development 
Management decisions that affect existing or new playing fields, pitches and ancillary 
facilities.  All applications are assessed by the Local Planning Authority on a case by case 
basis taking into account site specific factors. In addition, Sport England as statutory 
consultee on planning applications that affect or prejudice the use of playing field will use the 
PPS to help assess that planning application against paragraph 74 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and their Playing Fields Policy.

Sport England’s playing field policy exception E1 only allows for development of lapsed or 
disused playing fields if a PPS shows a clear excess in the quantity of playing pitch provision 
at present and in the future across all playing pitch sports types and sizes. 

Policy Exception E1:
‘A carefully quantified and documented assessment of current and future needs has 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of Sport England that there is an excess of playing field 
provision in the catchment, and the site has no special significance to the interests of sport’.

Where the PPS cannot demonstrate the site, or part of a site, is clearly surplus to 
requirements then replacement of the site, or part of a site, will be required to comply with 
Sport England policy exception E4.

Policy Exception E4:
‘The playing field or fields to be lost as a result of the proposed development would be 
replaced, prior to the commencement of development, by a new playing field site or sites: 

 of equivalent or better quality and 
 of equivalent or greater quantity; 
 in a suitable location and 
 subject to equivalent or better management arrangements. 

Further to this, all playing fields should be protected or replaced up until the point where all 
satisfied demand has been met within the study area or each individual sports catchment 
areas within a sub area.

It may be appropriate to dispose of some existing playing field sites (that are of low value i.e. 
one/two pitch sites with no changing provision) to generate investment towards creating 
bigger better quality sites (Strategic Sites) in order to develop the hierarchy of sites (see 
recommendation e).   

Any planning applications as such would have to show that new playing field land was being 
created on a Strategic Site that represented at least equivalent replacement for the playing 
field(s) being lost.

Page 74



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 28

In terms of mitigation it is important, where possible and appropriate for a particular sport, 
that this takes place in an area that is accessible to the playing field that is lost to avoid a 
scenario where a redundant playing field is lost in an area which has deficiencies and is 
replaced on the other side of the authority. 

Furthermore any school sites which become redundant over the lifetime of the Strategy may 
offer potential for meeting community needs on a localised basis. Where schools are closed 
their playing fields may be dedicated to community use to help address any unmet 
community needs. Closed school playing fields should be considered in the first instance for 
becoming community playing fields for meeting the needs identified in the Strategy before 
being considered for other uses. 

The following should be considered when assessing the suitability of conversion of former 
school playing fields for community use:

 Location and willingness of LA/club or other party to take on ownership / lease / 
maintenance

 Size
 Quality
 Physical accessibility
 History of community access
 Availability of ancillary facilities

Local authorities wanting to dispose of school playing field land need consent under Section 
77 of the Schools Standards and Framework Act 1998, but consent is now also required for 
disposal of any land used by a school or academy under Schedule 1 to the Academies Act 
2010. 

It should be noted that consent under Section 77 of the Schools Standards and Framework 
Act does not necessarily mean subsequent planning approval will be granted. Therefore, any 
application for planning permission must meet the requirements of the relevant policy, in this 
case paragraph 74 of Framework, Local Plan Policy and Sport England policy. Indeed, 
applicants are advised to engage Sport England before submitting applications. Robust 
implementation of the statutory obligation will ensure protection of school playing fields for 
use by pupils (and sometimes the community as a whole) to ensure receipt is ploughed back 
into sports education.

Recommendation b – Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, 
development minded clubs through a range of solutions and partnership 
agreements
Local sports clubs should be supported by partners including the Council, NGBs or the 
County Sports Partnership (CSP) to achieve sustainability across a range of areas including 
management, membership, funding, facilities, volunteers and partnership working. For 
example, support club development and encourage clubs to develop evidence of business 
and sports development plans to generate an income through their facilities. All clubs could 
be encouraged to look at different management models such as registering as Community 
Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC)7. Clubs should also be encouraged to work with partners 
locally whether volunteer support agencies or linking with local businesses.

7 http://www.cascinfo.co.uk/cascbenefits
Page 75



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 29

As well as improving the quality of well-used, local authority sites, there are a number of 
sites which have poor quality (or no) ancillary facilities. It is recommended that security of 
tenure should be granted to the clubs playing on these sites (minimum 25 years as 
recommended by Sport England and NGBs) so the clubs are in a position to apply for 
external funding to improve the ancillary facilities. 

There are a number of sites in Rochdale where security of tenure for the club/user needs to 
be secured (on private or industrial playing fields for example). This also often refers to 
education sites where formal community use agreements are not in place. NGBs can often 
help to negotiate and engage with schools, particularly academies where the local authority 
may not have direct influence. For further information on this, please refer to Objective g.

In addition there are a number of examples in Rochdale where long term leases could be put 
into place for the continued use of a site. Each club should be required to meet service 
and/or strategic recommendations. However, an additional set of criteria should be 
considered, which takes into account the quality of the club, aligned to its long term 
development objectives and sustainability. 

In the context of the Comprehensive Spending Review, which announced public spending 
cuts, it is increasingly important for the Council to work with voluntary sector organisations in 
order that they may be able to take greater levels of ownership and support the wider 
development and maintenance of facilities. 

To facilitate this, the Council should support and enable clubs to generate sufficient funds to 
allow this.

Recommended criteria for lease of sport sites to clubs/organisations

Club Site

 Clubs should have Clubmark /FA 
Charter Standard accreditation 
award.

 Clubs commit to meeting 
demonstrable local demand and 
show pro-active commitment to 
developing school-club links.

 Clubs are sustainable, both in a 
financial sense and via their internal 
management structures in relation to 
recruitment and retention policy for 
both players and volunteers

 Ideally, clubs should have already 
identified (and received an 
agreement in principle) any match 
funding required for initial capital 
investment identified.

 Clubs have processes in place to 
ensure capacity to maintain sites to 
the existing, or better, standards.

 Sites should be those identified as 
‘Club Sites’ (recommendation d) for 
new clubs (i.e. not those with a 
boroughwide significance) but which 
offer development potential. For 
established clubs which have 
proven success in terms of self-
management ‘Key Centres’ are also 
appropriate.

 As a priority, sites should acquire 
capital investment to improve (which 
can be attributed to the presence of 
a Clubmark / Charter Standard 
club).

 Sites should be leased with the 
intention that investment can be 
sourced to contribute towards 
improvement of the site.

 An NGB/Council representative 
should sit on a management 
committee for each site leased to a 

Page 76



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 30

Club Site
club.

The Council can further recognise the value of Clubmark / Charter Standard by adopting a 
policy of prioritising the clubs that are to have access to these better quality facilities. This 
may be achieved by inviting clubs to apply for season long leases on a particular site as an 
initial trial. 

The Council should establish a series of core outcomes to derive from clubs taking on a 
lease arrangement to ensure that the most appropriate clubs are assigned to sites. As an 
example outcomes may include:

 Increasing participation. 
 Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers.
 Commitment to quality standards.
 Improvements (where required) to facilities, or as a minimum retaining existing 

standards.

In addition, clubs should be made fully aware of the associated responsibilities/liabilities 
when considering leases of multi-use public playing fields.

Community Asset Transfer

The Council should work towards adopting a policy which supports community management 
and ownership of assets to local clubs, community groups and trusts. This presents sports 
clubs and national governing bodies with opportunities to take ownership of their own 
facilities; it may also provide non-asset owning sports clubs with their first chance to take on 
a building. 

The Sport England Community Sport Asset Transfer Toolkit is a bespoke, interactive web 
based tool that provides a step by step guide through each stage of the asset transfer 
process: 

http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx

Recommendation c – Maximise community use of outdoor sports 
facilities where there is a need to do so

Education sites
In order to maximise community use of educational facilities it is recommended to establish a 
more coherent, structured relationship with schools. The ability to access good facilities 
within the local community is vital to any sports organisation, yet many clubs struggle to find 
good quality places to play and train. In Rochdale pricing policies at facilities can be barrier 
to access at some of the education sites but physical access and resistance from schools, 
especially academies, to open up 3G provision is also an issue.

A large number of sporting facilities are located on education sites and making these 
available to sports clubs can offer significant benefits to both the school/college and the local 
clubs. The Council and other key partners must work with schools and colleges to develop 
an understanding of the issues that restrict or affect community access. Support should be 
provided, where appropriate, to address underlying problems. Consideration should be given 

Page 77

http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 31

to a centralised booking system for community use of schools and colleges to minimise 
administration and make access easier for the users.

It is not uncommon for school pitch stock not to be fully maximised for community use. Even 
on established community use sites, access to grass pitches for community use is limited. 

The Assessment Report identified several issues relating to the use of school facilities:

 Many sites are underutilised, especially for competitive play for football.
 Community use is limited and often based on informal agreements between 

individual schools and clubs. 
 There is no strategic guidance as to which clubs are allocated the use of playing 

pitch facilities (i.e. in accordance with a strategic need). 
 There are a number of school sites where a community use agreement is in place but 

it is not clear whether the agreement is being upheld.
 There are management issues inherent in developing, implementing and managing 

community use agreements. Advice and guidance can be obtained from Sport 
England’s Schools toolkit and Sports organisations toolkit.
(www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning)

Where appropriate, it will be important for schools to negotiate and sign formal and long-term 
agreements that secure community use. This need to be examined against these issues:

The analysis provides a clear indication of the future pitch requirements and provides a basis 
for partners to negotiate.
Community use should not impact on the needs of schools to deliver curricular and 
extracurricular activities. 

Sport England has also produced guidance, online resources and toolkits to help open up 
and retain school sites for community use and can be found at:
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/use-our-school/

It is recommended that a working group, led by a partner from the education sector but 
supported by a range of other sectors including sport and leisure is established to implement 
the strategic direction in relation to the increased/better use of school facilities. Broadly 
speaking, its role should be to:

 To better understand current community use, practices and issues by ‘auditing’ 
schools.

 Ensure community use agreements are upheld.
 Identify and pilot one school/club formal community use agreement with a view to 

rolling out the model across the area.
 Ensure that funding to improve the quality of the facilities is identified and secured.
 As part of any agreement secure a management arrangement for community access, 

which does not rely on existing school staff structures.
 Ensure that pitch provision at schools is sufficient in quality and quantity to be able to 

deliver its curriculum. Once this has been achieved provision could contribute to 
overcoming deficiencies in the area.

Although there are a growing number of academies and college sites in Rochdale, which the 
Council has no control over the running of, it is still important to understand the significance 
of such sites and attempt to work with the schools where there are opportunities for 
community use. In addition, the relevant NGB has a role to play in supporting the Council to 

Page 78

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 32

deliver the strategy and communicating with schools where necessary to address shortfalls 
in provision, particularly for football pitches. 

Recommendation d – Improve pitch quality
There are a number of ways in which it is possible to increase pitch quality, including for 
example, addressing overplay and improving maintenance. These are explored in more 
detail below.

The FA Pitch Improvement Programme (PIP)
The key principles behind the service are to provide football clubs with advice/practical 
solutions on a number of areas and discounts on machinery and materials to support 
improving the clubs’ playing surface. The programme should be utilised in order to help any 
clubs that take on the management and maintenance of sites or which are currently 
managing and maintaining their own pitch site. 

As subsidy is removed for pitch maintenance the PIP is an essential toolkit in supporting 
self-management/maintenance of sites, particularly on adult sites that have historically been 
maintained by the Council.

Addressing quality issues
Generally where pitches are assessed as standard or poor quality and/or overplayed, 
review/improve maintenance regimes to ensure it is of an appropriate standard to 
sustain/improve pitch quality. Ensuring existing maintenance of good quality pitches 
continues is also important.

Based on an achievable target using existing quality scoring to provide a baseline, a 
standard should be used to identify deficiencies and investment should be focused on those 
sites which fail to meet the proposed quality standard (using the site audit database, 
provided in electronic format). The Strategy approach to these outdoor sports facilities 
achieving these standards should be to enhance quality and therefore the planning system 
should seek to protect them. 

AIM 2
To enhance playing fields, pitches and ancillary facilities through improving quality and 
management of sites

Recommendation:

d. Improve quality

e. Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) for the management and 
improvement of sites.

f. Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding

Page 79



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 33

For the purposes of the Quality Assessments, this Strategy will refer to pitches and ancillary 
facilities separately as Good, Standard or Poor quality. In Rochdale, for example, some good 
quality sites have poor quality elements i.e. changing rooms or a specific pitch.

Good quality refers to pitches that have, for example, a good maintenance regime coupled 
with good grass cover, an even surface, are free from vandalism, litter etc. In terms of 
ancillary facilities, good quality refers to access for disabled people, sufficient provision for 
referees, juniors/women/girls and appropriate provision of showers, toilets and car parking. 
For rugby union, a good pitch is also pipe and/or slit drained.

Standard quality refers to pitches that have, for example, an adequate maintenance regime 
coupled with adequate grass cover, minimal signs of wear and tear, goalposts may be 
secure but in need of minor repair. In terms of ancillary facilities, standard quality refers to 
adequately sized changing rooms, storage provision and provision of toilets. For rugby 
union, drainage is natural and adequate.

Poor quality refers to pitches that have, for example, poor levels of maintenance coupled 
with inadequate grass cover, uneven surface and damage. In terms of ancillary facilities, 
poor quality refers to inappropriate size of changing rooms, no showers, no running water 
and old dated interior. For rugby union, drainage is natural and inadequate.
Please refer to the Sport England/NGB quality assessments. Sites played beyond capacity 
may require remedial action to help reduce this.

For improvement/replacement of AGPs refer to Sport England and the NGBs ‘Selecting the 
Right Artificial Surface for Hockey, Football, Rugby League and Rugby Union’ document for 
a guide as to suitable AGP surfaces:

www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-
sports-surfaces/

Addressing overplay
In order to improve the overall quality of the playing pitches stock; it is necessary to ensure 
that pitches are not overplayed beyond recommended weekly carrying capacity. This is 
determined by assessing pitch quality (via a non-technical site assessment) and allocating a 
weekly match limit to each. Each NGB recommends a number of matches that a good 
quality pitch should take: 

No. of matchesSport Pitch type
Good quality Standard 

quality
Poor quality

Adult pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week
Youth pitches 4 per week 2 per week 1 per week

Football

Mini pitches 6 per week 4 per week 2 per week
Natural Inadequate 
(D0) 2 per week 1.5 per week 0.5 per week

Natural Adequate (D1) 3 per week 2 per week 1.5 per week
Pipe Drained (D2) 3.25 per week 2.5 per week 1.75 per week

Rugby 
union*

Pipe and Slit Drained 
(D3) 3.5 per week 3 per week 2 per week

Rugby 
league

Senior 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week

Cricket One grass wicket 5 per season N/A N/A
Page 80

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-sports-surfaces/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-sports-surfaces/


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 34

Sport Pitch type No. of matches
Good quality Standard 

quality
Poor quality

One synthetic wicket 60 per season

Please note that the RFU believes that it is most appropriate to base the calculation of 
pitch capacity upon an assessment of the drainage system and maintenance programme 
afforded to a site.

There are also a number of sites that are poor quality but are not overplayed. These sites 
should not be overlooked as often poor quality sites have less demand than other sites but 
demand could increase if the quality was to increase. Improving pitch quality should not be 
considered in isolation from maintenance regimes.

Whilst it works both ways in so much as poor pitch condition is a symptom of pitches being 
over played, potential improvements may make sites more attractive and therefore more 
popular. 

There is also a need to balance pitch improvements alongside the transfer of play to 
alternative pitch sites. Therefore, work with clubs to ensure that sites are not played beyond 
their capacity and encourage play, where possible, to be transferred to alternative venues 
which are not operating at capacity.

Increasing pitch maintenance
Standard or poor grass pitch quality may not just be a result of poor drainage. In some 
instances ensuring there is an appropriate maintenance for the level/standard of play can 
help to improve quality and therefore increase pitch capacity. Each NGB can provide 
assistance with reviewing pitch maintenance regimes.

For example, the FA, ECB and RFL in partnership have recently introduced a Pitch Advisor 
Scheme and have been working in partnership with Institute of Groundmanship (IOG) to 
develop a Grass Pitch Maintenance service that can be utilised by grassroots football clubs 
with the simple aim of improving the quality of grass pitches. The key principles behind the 
service are to provide clubs with advice/practical solutions on a number of areas, with the 
simple aim of improving the club’s playing surface.

In relation to cricket, maintaining high pitch quality is the most important aspect of cricket. If 
the wicket is poor, it can affect the quality of the game and can, in some instances, become 
dangerous. The ECB recommends full technical assessments of wickets and pitches 
available through a Performance Quality Standard Assessment (PQS). The PQS assesses a 
cricket square to ascertain whether the pitch meets the Performance Quality Standards that 
are benchmarked by the Institute of Groundsmanship. 
Please note that PQS assessments are also available for other sports.

Page 81



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 35

Recommendation e – Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) 
for the management and improvement of sites
To allow for facility developments to be programmed within a phased approach the Council 
should adopt a tiered approach to the management and improvement of playing pitch sites 
and associated facilities. 

Rochdale borough is organised into 4 township areas.  These have been adopted as sub 
areas for the purposes of this study.  The council proposes that there should be a formal 
sports / grass pitch hub in each township. These sites will be the most popular and will need 
to be of the highest standards to accommodate a sufficient number of matches.  This mainly 
applies to football pitch hire as this is the most widely played sport in the borough and 
because football clubs are most reliant on hiring pitches from other providers; cricket and 
rugby clubs tend to own their own facilities.  
The council vision is that these sites should offer a range a sports and not just football and 
the intention is to try to develop a full grass / pitch sports offer at each site.  This accords 
with the ‘Parklife’ model promoted by the FA aimed at boosting grass roots participation.

These hub sites will be the focus for improvement and investment.

The education establishments in the borough have a good range of sports facilities.  Almost 
all of the high schools have AGPs although not all are full sized.  Some of these facilities are 
key to ensuring the full range of facilities is on offer within each township area.

Also a priority will be the single sports sites where these are the only incidence of this sport 
in the borough.  This is so that the presence of these sports can be retained.  Where there is 
pressure on these sites in terms of capacity the council will seek to work with the clubs and 
governing bodies to provide off site facilities for training.  

There are a number of larger club sites in the borough that accommodate more than one 
pitch and cater for both adult and junior play. These are important as the presence of both 
adult and junior teams within the club helps with the retention of players post 16.  There are 
also a number of multi team junior clubs within the borough.  Youth football is a growth area 
and these clubs place great demand on the pitch stock.

Page 82



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 36

township hub 
sites

key education 
sites

single sports 
representation

larger multi 
pitch club sites

small club sites

Recommendation f – Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure 
funding
Partners, led by the Council, should ensure that appropriate funding secured for improved 
sports provision is directed to areas of need, underpinned by a robust strategy for 
improvement in playing pitch facilities. 

In order to address the community’s needs, to target priority areas and to reduce duplication 
of provision, there should be a coordinated approach to strategic investment. In delivering 
this recommendation the Council should maintain a regular dialogue with local partners and 
through the Playing Pitch Steering Group.

Some investment in new provision will not be made by the Council directly, it is important, 
however, that the Council seeks to direct and lead a strategic and co-ordinated approach to 
facility development by education sites, NGBs, sports clubs and the commercial sector to 
address community needs whilst avoiding duplication of provision. 

Please refer to Appendix Two for further funding information which includes details of the 
current opportunities, likely funding requirements and indicative project costs.  

Sport and physical activity can have a profound effect on peoples’ lives, and plays a crucial 
role in improving community cohesion, educational attainment and self-confidence. 
However, one of sport’s greatest contributions is its positive impact on public health. It is 
therefore important to lever in investment from other sectors such as health through, for 
example, the CCG.

Page 83



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 37

Recommendation g- Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch 
stock
The Council and its partners should work to rectify identified inadequacies and meet 
identified shortfalls as outlined in the Assessment Report and the sport by sport specific 
recommendations.

It is important that the current levels of grass pitch provision are protected, maintained and 
enhanced to secure provision now and in the future. For most sports the future demand for 
provision identified in Rochdale can be overcome through maximising use of existing pitches 
through a combination of:

 Improving pitch quality in order to improve the capacity of pitches to accommodate 
more matches.

 The re-designation of pitches for which there is an oversupply.
 Securing long term community use at school sites. 
 Working with commercial and private providers to increase usage. 

While maximising the use of existing pitches offers scope to address the quantitative 
deficiencies for most sports, new or additional cricket squares on public or private fields, as 
well as improving existing wickets is required to meet the levels of demand identified for 
cricket both now and in the future. 

There may be a requirement to protect some senior football pitches as this provides the 
flexibility to provide senior, junior or mini pitches (through different line markings/coning 
areas of the pitch). However, further work should be undertaken on this as an action for the 
Council/NGBs. Furthermore the re-designation of adult pitches that are not currently used 
may lead to a deficiency of adult pitches in the medium to longer term as younger players 
move up the ages. It is likely that for some sports, particularly football, that the provision of 
new pitches and facilities will be required in the future to support the predicted future 
demand.

Unmet demand, changes in sport participation and trends, and proposed housing growth 
should be recognised and factored into future facility planning. Assuming an increase in 
participation and housing growth occurs, it will impact on the future need for certain types of 

AIM 3
To provide new playing fields, pitches and ancillary facilities where there is current or 
future demand to do so

Recommendations:

g. Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch stock.

h. Identify opportunities to add to the overall stock to accommodate both current and 
future demand.

Page 84



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 38

sports facilities. Sports development work also approximates unmet demand which cannot 
currently be quantified (i.e., it is not being suppressed by a lack of facilities) but is likely to 
occur. The following table highlights the main development trends in each sport and their 
likely impact on facilities. However, it is important to note that these may be subject to 
change.

Retaining some spare capacity also allows pitches to be rested to protect overall pitch 
quality in the long term. Therefore, whilst in some instances it may be appropriate to re-
designate a senior pitch where there is low demand identified a holistic approach should be 
taken to re-designation for the reasons cited. The site-by-site action planning will seek to 
provide further clarification on where re-designation is suitable.

Likely future sport-by-sport demand trends 

Sport Future development trend Strategy impact

The needs of the game will 
change significantly from the 
2016/17 season with the change 
in direction of government and 
Sport England policy 

Funding likely to be directed towards hub sites 

Demand for senior football is likely 
to be sustained based on current 
trends and the move to small 
sided football. County FA focus to 
maintain growth of youth football 
through to adults.

Sustain current stock but consideration given to 
reconfigure pitches if required.

An increase in women and girls 
football following £2.4m 
investment over the next two 
years (2014-2016) from Sport 
England to increase the number 
of women and girls taking part in 
football sessions.

A need to provide segregated ancillary facilities 
and the potential need for more pitches.

Fo
ot

ba
ll

Despite scenarios looking at 
increased play on AGPs  the 
quality of natural grass pitches 
remains important 

Need to ensure a there is the right mix of 
facilities to meet demand.

C
ric

ke
t Demand is likely to continue in 

Rochdale for both grass and non-
turf wickets for both junior and 
adult participation. 

High peak time usage for good quality grass 
pitches at club sites will continue, however, a 
likely increase in demand for non-turf wickets if 
LMS is established in the Borough.

Page 85



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 39

Sport Future development trend Strategy impact

Women’s and girls’ cricket is a 
national priority and there is a 
target to establish two girls’ and 
one women’s team in every local 
authority over the next five years.

Support clubs to ensure access to segregated 
changing and toilet provision and access to 
good quality cricket pitches to support growth. 

Following the success of Park 
Run the ECB is trialling ‘Park 
Cricket’ to introduce people to the 
game and encourage participation

Encourage causal play through the provision of 
artificial wickets for community use

The national facilities strategy 
focusses on strengthening clubs 
and the communities around 
them. 

Local clubs need support to be sustainable and 
need investment in facilities to retain players 
and volunteers.

R
ug

by
 u

ni
on

Seek to encourage the women’s 
and girls’ game

Local clubs will need support to improve 
facilities to meet this demand

R
ug

by
 

le
ag

ue The RFL will be publishing a new 
strategy in 2017

Sustain current levels of access to grass 
pitches and improve pitch quality/capacity to 
accommodate current and future growth. 

Demand for 3G pitches for 
competitive football will increase. 
It is likely that future demand for 
the use of 3G pitches to service 
competitive football, particularly 
mini and youth will result in some 
reduced demand for grass 
pitches. 

Ensure that access to new AGP provision 
across the Borough is maximised and that 
community use agreements are in place. 

Provision of 3G pitches which are 
World Rugby compliant will help 
to reduce overplay as a result of 
training on rugby pitches.

AG
Ps

There is a need to retain a hockey 
standard facility within the 
borough

Utilise Sport England/NGB guidance on 
choosing the correct surface:
http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Sele
cting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf

look to develop dual use facilities where 
appropriate

Page 86

http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Selecting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Selecting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 40

Recommendation h - Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch 
stock to accommodate both current and future demand

The Council should use, and regularly update, the Action Plan within this Strategy for 
improvements to its own pitches whilst recognising the need to support partners. The Action 
Plan lists improvements to be made to each site focused upon both qualitative and 
quantitative improvements as appropriate for each area.

Furthermore any potential school sites which become redundant over the lifetime of the 
Strategy may offer potential for meeting community needs on a localised basis. Where 
schools are closed their playing fields may be converted to dedicated community use to help 
address any unmet community needs.

Page 87



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 41

PART 5: ACTION PLAN

Introduction
The site-by-site action plan list seeks to address key issues identified in the accompanying 
Assessment Report. It provides recommendations based on current levels of usage, quality 
and future demand, as well as the potential of each site for enhancement. 

It should be reviewed in the light of staff and financial resources in order to prioritise support 
for strategically significant provision and provision that other providers are less likely to make.

The Council should make it a high priority to work with NGBs and other partners to compile a 
priority list of actions based on local priorities, NGB priorities and available funding. 

Management and development
The following issues should be considered when undertaking sports related site development 
or enhancement:

 Financial viability.
 Security of tenure.
 Planning permission requirements and any foreseen difficulties in securing permission.
 Adequacy of existing finances to maintain existing sites.
 Business Plan/Masterplan – including financial package for creation of new provision 

where need has been identified. 
 Analysis of the possibility of shared site management opportunities.
 The availability of opportunities to lease sites to external organisations.
 Options to assist community groups to gain funding to enhance existing provision. 
 Negotiation with landowners to increase access to private strategic sites. 
 Football investment programme/3G pitches development with The FA.
 Impact on all sports that use a site regardless of the sport that is the subject of 

enhancements.

 Action plan

Partners 
The column indicating Partners refers to the main organisation that the Council will liaise with 
in helping to deliver the actions. The next stage in the development of the action plan will be to 
agree a Lead Partner to help deliver the actions. 

Site hierarchy tier and priority level
Township hub sites have a high priority level as they have borough wide importance and have 
been identified on the basis of the impact that the site will have on addressing the key issues 
identified in the assessment.   Key education sites are also a high priority

Clubs sites that cater for sports with only a limited offer in the borough and larger multi pitch 
club sites are a medium priority and have analysis area importance and have been identified 
on the basis of the impact that the site will have on addressing the issues identified in the 
assessment.

Page 88



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 42

Low priority sites are club sites with local specific importance and have been identified on a 
site by site basis as issues appertaining to individual sites but that may also contribute to 
addressing the issues identified in the assessment

Costs
The strategic actions have also been ranked as low, medium or high based on cost. The 
brackets in which these sit are: 

(L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above. These are 
based on Sport England’s estimated facility costs which can be found at 
www.sportengland.org/media/198443/facility-costs-4q13.pdf

Timescales
The action plan has been created to be delivered over a ten year period. The information 
within the Assessment Report, Strategy and Action Plan will require updating as developments 
occur. The timescales relate to delivery times and are not priority based.

Timescales: (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years). 

Aim
Each action seeks to meet at least one of the three aims of the Strategy; Enhance, Provide, 
Protect. 

Page 89

http://www.sportengland.org/media/198443/facility-costs-4q13.pdf


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 43

ROCHDALE (BOROUGH) SUMMARY

Football – grass pitches

Overall, it is evident that the existing and future position is there is sufficient capacity to 
accommodate additional demand for adult, and mini pitches and there is the opportunity to 
convert some of these pitches to meet deficiencies in other pitch types.

3G pitches
 .The FA Training Need Model shows that Rochdale has sufficient 3G AGP’s to meet 

current and future training demand.
  There are no full sized 3G AGP’s in the Heywood and Pennines areas, only small sided 

AGP’s.
 There is a desire for a rugby standard AGP for training purposes

Cricket
Total 

Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

17 88 70 18 44 -25

 There is sufficient capacity for cricket to meet current needs when the borough is 
viewed as a whole.  There is overplay however at some sites and others are not played 
at or near capacity.  The main incidence of over play is at Walsden CC which is outside 
the borough although the team plays in the Pennines League

 Current over play can be addressed by moving to the use of artificial grass wickets
 When factoring in future demand there are insufficient pitches to meet demand.

Rugby Union
Total 
Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

9 0 4 4 1 5

 There is no spare capacity on existing senior rugby union pitches within Rochdale that 
are available for community use. Poor pitch quality is a contributing factor in pitches 
being overplayed. Increased maintenance and potential investment in drainage would 

8 In match equivalent sessions per week

Demand (match equivalent sessions)Pitch type
Actual spare 

capacity8
Overplay Current   

total
Latent/ 

displaced 
demand

Future 
demand 
(2028)

Total

Adult 67 12 55 11 2 42
Junior 7v7 6 0 6 11.5 1 6.5
Junior 9v9 11 12 1 11.5 1 13.5
Mini 26 0 26 0 2 24

Page 90



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 44

increase capacity at Rochdale and Littleborough RUFC and, therefore, alleviate some 
overplay. 

 There are 4 high schools with dedicated rugby pitches.  Only one of these has secured 
community use.

 There is capacity at each of the council’s hub sites.  Rugby pitches could be developed 
to meet demand.

Rugby league
Total 
Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

14 9 4 5 1 4

 There is sufficient capacity in the borough as a whole to meet current demand for 
rugby league.

 There is sufficient capacity to meet future demand. 
 There is sufficient capacity if all the people who want to play rugby league decide to 

get active.
 The site at Mayfield is overplayed but the club has secured funding to develop an 

additional pitch.
 The site at Littleborough Rakewood is potentially over played but this is due to 

shared use and poor maintenance rather than the specific demand for rugby league.

Hockey
 The1 pitch and 4 teams who play there is sufficient to accommodate current play.The 

AGP at Oulder Hill should be protected for hockey use.

Lacrosse
 There is one club in Rochdale who has seen junior numbers increase whilst senior 

teams have remained the same.
 Two further teams are in development which are under 10 Boys and under 16 Girls. 

This would increase the demand on the two pitches currently being played.

Rounders
Currently supply meets demand.

Page 91



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 45

Rochdale Growth Scenario
A Housing Growth Scenario was included within the Assessment Report and helped inform 
the Future Demand for pitch sports. Sport England’s New Development Calculator and 
Sports Facilities Calculator was used to estimate how many additional pitches are likely to 
be required by pitch sport throughout the Borough. This is based on an annual requirement 
of 460 dwellings per annum from 2017-2028 (Core Strategy) and an average household size 
2.5 (Council adopted figure):

Pitch Sport 9Estimated demand 
by Pitch Sport 
2028 (pitches)

Adult football 2
Youth football 2
Mini Soccer 2
Rugby Union 1
Rugby League 1
Hockey 0.5
Cricket 1

The table above is for additional pitch provision based on the current population and team 
generation rates extrapolated to 2028 (Core Strategy period). It does not take into account 
population trends or changes in sport participation trends. However, it does quantify the 
need for additional pitches across the Borough to meet additional demand specifically from 
housing growth.

It is recommended the Council runs a Housing Growth scenario over the next 5 years using 
information from the SHLAA to estimate additional demand by analysis area. This will give a 
more accurate figure for pitch provision required which can then be used to help inform 
developer contributions and/or CIL.

9 The calculation is 5,520 dwellings built over 12 years to 2028. Using the current TGR the additional demand is converted into match 
equivalent sessions. Which in turn is converted into the number of pitches required in the peak period..

Page 92



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 46

Boroughwide Actions

1. Establish a working group to oversee the implementation of the action plan to include 
officers of the council, Sport England, sports national governing bodies, Greater 
Sport etc as required.

2. Work with Public Health to develop the linked strategies relating to health and well 
being and physical activity and participation.

3. Work with schools to encourage more community use.

Page 93



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 47

Heywood Summary – Sub Area A

Township Hub Sites
Heywood Sports Village is the central sports hub for Heywood.  It offers a mix of natural 
grass and artificial pitches plus fitness facilities.  It is primarily football focussed.  
The facilities and operation here are closely aligned to the ‘Parklife’ model currently being 
promoted by Sport England, the FA, the Football Foundation and the premier League – a 
multi sports model centred around AGPs with fitness facilities on site to reduce dependence 
on public subsidy.
The full sized AGP has recently been resurfaced and supports a range of competitive and 
casual use.

It is proposed that a cricket strip should be added to support causal use, provide capacity for 
Heywood CC and possibly promote participation through different forms of the game.

There is 1 junior pitch at the edge of the site in very poor condition.  There is sufficient 
capacity on site and in the Heywood sub area and as such it is proposed that this pitch is 
released for development.  There is also some land at the rear of site not in formal sports 
use.  The area is not big enough for an additional pitch and is not used for training.  It is 
proposed that this area is also released to allow the extension of an adjoin allotment site.

Key Education Sites 
There are no key education sites identified in the area.  Heywood Sports Village provides the 
full range of facilities and no supplementary sites are needed.

Key Club Sites
Heywood Cricket Ground is a priority site as it is the only cricket pitch in the Heywood sub 
area

Sutherland Road and Darnhill Playing Fields are the only multi pitch club site in the area.  
Both sites are used by Roach Dynamos Football Club.  Junior Play is concentrated on the 
Sutherland Road pitches and adult play at Darnhill Playing Fields.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total 
Number of 

Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 

(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 9 13 0 13 0 13
Junior 10 2 2 0 2 2
Mini 2 0 0 0 0 0

 There is sufficient capacity to meet current demand for junior and mini pitches although 
this changes to a position of overplay for junior football in the future.

 There is some spare capacity on adult pitches. 
 There may be an opportunity to reconfigure some adult pitches to another pitch type to 

meet deficiencies.

Page 94



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 48

Football – 3G pitches
There are only 2 AGPS in Heywood – at Heywood Sports Village and at Holy Family RC and 
CE College.  Only Heywood Sports Village is available for community use.

Cricket
There is only one cricket club in the area. It is overplayed.
Potential to provide artificial strip at Heywood Sports Village to cater for casual demand. 

Rugby union
 No clubs in the Area.

Rugby league
 No clubs in the area

Hockey
 No clubs in the area

Page 95



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 49

P
age 96



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 50

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ALL SOULS CE PRIMARY SCHOOL informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

BROWNHILL LEARNING COMMUNITY 
SPECIAL SCHOOL Darnhill Site

informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

DARNHILL PLAYING FIELDS Adult Football

Pitches here and at Sutherland 
Road used by 1 club.  Difficult to 
allocate demand across the 
sites

no action required continue to monitor M 0 L N/A Council  protect

HEYWOOD CRICKET CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE
lack female changing facilities

Work with England cricket and the club 
to develop appropriate changing 
facilities for female players

M H L N
Club / 
governing 
body

Enhance

HEYWOOD CRICKET CLUB Cricket Pitch is overplayed.  
Work with England Cricket to 
encourage club to develop an artificial 
strip for competitive use.  

H L S N
club / 
governing 
body

Enhance

HEYWOOD SPORTS VILLAGE AGP and grass football 
pitches TOWNSHIP HUB SITE

Continue to develop as key hub site 
for Heywood township area - see 
separate section on hub sites 

H O M YES Trust / 
Council  Enhance

HEYWOOD SPORTS VILLAGE unmarked and marginal 
areas

problem with builders rubble 
under the surface

Some areas of the site are not marked 
out and not used for formal play or 
training. Consideration could be given 
to the release of these areas for 
alternative uses. The capital receipt 
realised would be used to enhance 
facilities elsewhere in the township 
area

M L M No Trust / 
Council  Enhance

HOLY FAMILY RC AND CE COLLEGE AGP and grass football 
pitches secure community use

The school advise that this is not 
available for community use, however 
one FC survey identifies use: - seek to 
secure joint use by other schools and 
wider community

L 0 L N/A School / 
Diocese  provide

OUR LADY & ST PAUL RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

PHOENIX RECREATION GROUND Adult Football team would like to refurbish the 
club house

work with club to identify funding to 
refurbish the club house L L  No Club/ 

Council  Enhance

QUEENS PARK adult football Protect through planning. L L  N/A Council  Protect

SIDDAL MOOR SPORTS COLLEGE various grass pitches
 

retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

P
age 97



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 51

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ST LUKES C OF E PRIMARY SCHOOL informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST MARGARET'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

SUTHERLAND ROAD PLAYING 
FIELDS (DARNHIL) mini soccer 5v5  KEY CLUB SITE Work with club to improve security, 

pitch quality and to develop facilities H H M Yes Club / FA  

WOODLAND COMMUNITY PRIMARY informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 98



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 52

Middleton Summary Sub Area B

Township Hub Sites
The council’s prosed hub site for Middleton Township is Bowlee Playing Fields.  Bowlee 
provides a range of grass pitches plus changing facilities.  There is no AGP on site but the 
playing fields are in close proximity to a number of schools with AGP facilities.  St Marys RC 
Primary, St Anne’s Academy and Cardinal Langley High School have been prioritised as Key 
education sites as they provide facilities to supplement Bowlee.
The pitches at Bowlee have been assessed as being in standard condition and capable of 
supporting the current levels of demand.  The AGP at St Mary’s is potentially over played 
and in poor condition.  It is recommended that greater community access is secured to the 
AGP facilities at Cardinal Langley and St Anne’s Schools.  Funding also needs to be 
identified to replace the AGP at St Marys.
The cricket strip at Bowlee has fallen into disrepair and it is recommended that this is 
reinstated to support causal play in the area and to provide additional training facilities for 
Middleton CC.

The Sports Arena at Hopwood Hall College fulfils the vision of a Sports Hub for Middleton.  It 
provides grass pitches for a variety of pitch sports plus AGPs.  There are fitness facilities 
also on site.
The site has capacity for current and future use.

Key Club Sites
Middleton Cricket Club is a priority site as it is the only Cricket pitch in the Middleton sub 
area.  Likewise Alkrington Mossway is a priority sites as it is the only rugby league facility in 
the area.

Limefield recreation ground is home to Middleton Lads and Girls Football club and is a priority 
as a multi pitch site for a large junior club.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 16 12.5 0 12.5 1.5 11

Junior 10 1 0 1 2 1

Mini 1 0 0 0 0 0

 There is sufficient capacity to meet current demand for junior and mini pitches but this 
changes to position of slight overplay when factoring in future demand.

 There is some spare capacity on adult pitches.
 Consideration should be taken to convert some adult pitches to an alternative pitch 

type/size to address deficiencies.
Page 99



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 53

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 4 full size AGPs in Middleton – St Anne’s Academy, Cardinal Langley, The 

Sports Arena and St Marys Primary School.  All are available for community use but 
the use at St Anne’s is limited.  

 St Marys is over played and the surface will need replacing in the next 12 months 
(2017/18).

Cricket
 There is only one cricket club in the area. It is at capacity.
 Potential to provide an artificial strip at Bowlee to cater for casual demand. 

Rugby union
 No clubs in the Area.

Rugby league
 Rochdale Hornets RLFC have reinstated the pitches at Moss Way, Alkrington as a 

training facility.

Hockey
 No clubs in the area.

Page 100



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 54

P
age 101



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 55

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ALKRINGTON COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

BOWLEE PARK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

BOWLEE PLAYING FIELDS various grass pitches TOWNSHIP HUB SITE
 Bowlee is key hub site for Middleton 
Township but is underutilised.  See 
separate section on hub sites

H M / H M N Council Enhance

CARDINAL LANGLEY RC 
HIGH SCHOOL AGP Demand from clubs for more community 

hours

Seek to secure continued community 
use of the site through formal written 
agreement

H 0 M N/A
Salford 

Diocese / 
School

Enhance

CARDINAL LANGLEY RC 
HIGH SCHOOL Adult Football  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ELM WOOD PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

HOLLIN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL (CLOSED) 
(SHARED WITH NEWLANDS 
SCHOOL)

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

KING GEORGE V PLAYING 
FIELDS

Adult Football not marked 
out  

Protect through planning to meet 
future demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

LIMEFIELD RECREATION 
GROUND

Adult and junior grass 
pitches KEY CLUB SITE.

Work with club and governing body to 
secure the site and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities. Work 
with club and FA to improve pitch 
quality. Actions here are limited as site 
is used for other purposes during the 
closed season

H M S No Council Enhance

LITTLE HEATON C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MIDDLETON CRICKET CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE.

Work with England Cricket to encourage 
club to develop an artificial strip for 
competitive use.    S106 funding in place 
for improvements to the changing 
facilities

H L S Yes club Enhance

MIDDLETON PARISH C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Adult Football club site for Adult football work with school to retain facilities for 

community use L L n/a club / school Enhance

MIDDLETON PARISH C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MIDDLETON TECHNOLOGY 
SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 102



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 56

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

MOSS WAY PLAYING FIELDS 
(ALKRINGTON)

Rugby League not marked 
out  

Protect through planning to meet future 
demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

PARKFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST ANNE'S ACADEMY Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST JOHN FISHER RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST MARYS STP RC PRIMARY 
MIDDLETON AGP KEY EDUCATION SITE Playing surface needs replacing within 

the next 12 months.  H H M NO TRUST  protect

ST PETER'S RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST THOMAS MORE RC 
PRIMARY

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST. GABRIELS CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

THE SPORTS 
ARENA@HOPWOOD

AGP, grass football and 
rugby pitches

potentially a complimentary hub site 
for Middleton

Well used site catering for different 
sports and different age groups. Seek to 
work with the provider to ensure facility 
is maintained.

M 0 M Council Protect

P
age 103



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 57

Pennines Summary – Area C

Township Hub Sites
Littleborough Sports Centre is the hub site the Pennines area.  It offers a mix of natural 
grass and artificial pitches plus fitness facilities; the AGP however is very small.  There are 
currently no full sized artificial grass pitches in the Pennines Area.  There is an area at 
Littleborough Sports Centre that used to be a ‘regra’ all weather pitch.  This has not been 
maintained and has fallen into disuse.  It would however provide an ideal sub base for a new 
generation artificial surface.  It is recommended that a full sized AGP facility is developed in 
the Pennines area.  Consideration should be given to this facility catering for the rugby 
playing community in the borough as there is currently no rugby accredited or suitable AGP.
  
The grass pitches are used primarily for football.  There is good quality changing 
accommodation but it does not comply with league requirements for separate changing 
rooms for match officials.  It is recommended that the accommodation is reviewed and 
provision made to satisfy this requirement.
 
It is proposed that a cricket strip should be added to support causal use, provide capacity for 
Littleborough CC and possibly promote participation through different forms of the game.

Key education sites
The Pennines sub area is the only one of the sub areas to have more than one centre.  It is 
made up of the Littleborough, Milnrow and Wardle settlements.  It is proposed that 
Hollingworth Academy is made a priority site to provide facilities to supplement Littleborough 
Sports centre.  Hollingworth Academy has an AGP (not full sized) plus grass pitches.  
Continued community use will need to be formally secured.

Key Club Sites
Littleborough Rakewood site is a key multi pitch site.  It is also the only venue in the sub 
area where rugby league and rugby union are played.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 10 9 9 0 0.5 0.5

Junior 5 0 36 3 3 6

Mini 3 0 0 0 0 0

 The overall position is that supply meets demand for adult and mini pitches currently with 
a small amount of overplay on junior pitches. The overplay can be managed within the 
sub area but may require some reconfiguration of pitches.  It is proposed that the pitch at 
Dearnley playing fields is reinstated to address a localised capacity issue

 The overplay is exacerbated when factoring in future demand

Page 104



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 58

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 4 AGPs in the Pennines area although none are full sized.  Capacity is 

limited as all the AGPs are located on school sites.
 There is a need for a full sized AGP in Pennines to meet current football training 

demand.  It is recommended that this is developed at Littleborough Sports Centre.

Cricket
 There are 4 cricket clubs in Pennines plus Walsden cricket club which is outside the 

borough but plays in the Pennines League.    Walsden Cricket pitch is over played.  
Littleborough Cricket pitch is also over played but only marginally.  

 Potential to provide artificial strip at Littleborough Sports Centre to cater for casual 
demand and to provide additional capacity for Littleborough Cricket club.

Rugby union
 There is one rugby union club in the area.  The site at Littleborough Rakewood is 

overplayed.

Rugby league
 There is one rugby league club in the area.  The site at Littleborough Rakewood is 

overplayed.

Hockey
 No clubs in the area.

Page 105



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 59

P
age 106



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 60

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

DEARNLEY PLAYING FIELDS Adult Football
 

Protect through planning to meet future 
demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

FOTHERGILLS (GREENVALE ) Adult Football only pitch recorded as poor quality in the 
borough no action required continue to monitor L 0 N/A Club  protect

HARE HILL HOLY TRINITY PITCHES Mini Soccer 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

HARE HILL RECREATION GROUND Adult Football not 
marked out     

HOLLINGWORTH ACADEMY 
BUSINESS AND ENTERPRISE 
COLLEGE

AGP and various 
grass pitches KEY EDUCATION SITE

 Possible hub site for Pennines to 
complement Littleborough seek to 
secure community use

H L S NO council 
/ School

 Enhanc
e

LITTLEBOROUGH CRICKET CLUB Cricket
KEY CLUB SITE. more space required to 
accommodate training and introducing 
cricket to children

Pitch is overplayed.  Encourage club to 
develop an artificial strip for 
competitive use.  Look at off site 
training

M L M No club  enhance

LITTLEBOROUGH SPORTS CENTRE AGP and grass 
football pitches

TOWNSHIP HUB SITE
Look to develop site as hub site for 
Pennines Township - see separate section 
on hub sites. AGP on site is too small for 
competitive play.  Changing rooms do not 
meet league requirements for separate 
facilities for officials

Look to develop full sized AGP. 
Enhance changing rooms to meet 
league requirements

H H M No Council Provide

LITTLEBOROUGH SPORTS CLUB 
(RAKEWOOD)

Rugby Union, rugby 
league, cricket and 
football

KEY CLUB SITE
Site is a key club site for Rugby Union but 
also used by football and cricket

Work with club and governing body to 
secure the site and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities to 
help retain players - especially women.  
Improve maintenance to improve pitch 
capacity. 

H M M in part Council/  
club  enhance

MILNROW CRICKET CLUB Cricket  protect through planning L 0 N/A Council  protect
MILNROW PARISH CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL AGP  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MOORHOUSE COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

NEWHEY COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

various grass 
pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

RUTHERFORD PARK adult football
Only 1st and 2nd teams play here.  No 
capacity at peak times for 3rd team 
especially with increase in junior teams  
Funding in place for new adult pitch

Club would like to create 2nd full sized 
pitch on site.  New club house needed L M M Yes

Club / 
FA / 

Council
 enhance

SACRED HEART RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

SMITHY BRIDGE FOUNDATION 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 107



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 61

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

ST ANDREW'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST JAMES' CE PRIMARY SCHOOL
informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

STANSFIELD HALL CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

WALSDEN CRICKET CLUB Cricket site is overplayed

Club is located outside of Rochdale 
Borough so council resources cannot 
be allocated to assist the club.  
However club could make use of 
facilities within the borough for training 
use

L L N/A ECB  Enhanc
e

WARDLE HIGH SCHOOL ACADEMY Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

WARDLE RECREATION GROUND 
AND CLOUGH STREET PLAY AREA

Junior Football not 
marked out  

pitch reinstated due to community 
demand   

WHITTLES PARK (Fothergills & 
Whittles FC) Adult Football poor pitch, poor maintenance poor 

changing no action required continue to monitor L O L N/A CLUB  ProtectP
age 108



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 62

Rochdale Summary – Area D

Township Hub Sites
Firgrove playing fields is the key multi sports hub site for the Rochdale Township area.  It is 
technically in Pennines Township but is located close to the township border.  It provides a 
range of natural grass pitches plus changing rooms.  Firgrove playing fields supports rugby 
league and rounders as well as football. 
The changing accommodation is in need of an upgrade and it is recommended that this 
takes place in order to assist with club satisfaction and player retention.
There is no AGP at Firgrove and training is not permitted on the pitches under the terms and 
conditions of use for the site.  The facilities at Firgrove can be supplemented by those at 
Kingsway Park High School where the leisure facilities, pitches and AGP are managed by 
the council’s leisure partner Link4Life. 

Key Education Sites
Kingsway Park High School is a key education site.
Oulder Hill School is also a key education site as it is the only site in the borough where 
hockey is played.  

Key Club Sites
Mayfield Rugby Club is a priority site as it is the only club site supporting rugby league 
(Rugby league is also played at Firgrove).
Rochdale Rugby Union Club is a priority site as it is the only site in the sub area where rugby 
union is played.
Rochdale Squash Cricket and Lacrosse club is a priority site as it is the only site in the 
borough where lacrosse is played.
Top O th Lane Playing Fields and Norden Community School are key club sites as both sites 
support clubs with large numbers of junior teams.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 29 32.5 3 29.5 9 20.5

Junior 12 14 7 7 16 -9

Mini 9 26 0 26 0 24

 There is spare capacity across adult and mini pitches currently and when factoring in 
future demand.

 Currently there is minimal spare capacity across junior pitches but this changes to a 
position of overplay (deficiencies) when factoring in future demand.

Page 109



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 63

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 5 AGPS in Rochdale.  3 are full sized.  Capacity is limited on some sites.

Cricket
 There are 5 cricket clubs in the area.  There are no capacity issues.  There is 

sufficient capacity to meet current and future demand.
 There is extensive casual play in the area that has been difficult to quantify.  It is 

proposed that the provision of artificial strips in key locations may assist in capturing 
this participation.  

Rugby union
 There is one rugby union club in the area.  The site at Moorgate is over played.  

Rugby league
 There are 2 rugby league clubs in the area.  There is sufficient capacity overall but 

there are issues of overplay at Mayfield.

Hockey
 There are 2 hockey clubs in the area.  Both play at Oulder Hill School.  There is sufficient 

capacity to meet current and future demand.
 The Oulder Hill School AGP should be protected for hockey.

Rounders
 The Rochdale Ladies Rounders league plays at Firgrove.  There are 28 teams in the 

league.  All matches are played on this central venue.  There are no capacity issues.

Page 110



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 64

P
age 111



rochdale.gov.uk 65

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescal
e

Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

ALICE INGHAM RC 
PRIMARY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ALL SAINTS CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BALDERSTONE PARK 
(FORMERLY Balderstone 
School)

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 lapsed site to be reinstated as a football pitch with new 
changing facilities H M S Yes Council enhance

BALDERSTONE PARK Rugby union, not 
marked out lapsed Part of site has been developed as a skate park

BAMFORD ACADEMY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BAMFORD FIELDHOUSE 
CRICKET CLUB Cricket  Protect through planning. L L N/A Council Protect

BEECH HOUSE SCHOOL 
(use Mandale Park)

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 Protect through planning. L L N/A Council Protect

BELFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BRIMROD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BROADFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL 

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BURTON PARK (leased as 
SANDY BROW PLAYING 
FIELDS Nr Sandy Lane) 

Adult Football Club would like more teams but cannot 
accommodate on this site.  sufficient capacity in local area L 0 N/A Club protect

CALDERSHAW 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL (SHARED WITH 
ST. VINCENTS RC 
PRIMARY)

Mini Soccer 5v5

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

CASTLETON PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

DEEPLISH PRIMARY 
ACADEMY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

FALINGE PARK HIGH 
SCHOOL/ LENNY BARN 
PLAYING FIELDS

AGP resource for training and casual play
seek to secure continued community use

L 0 N/A Council protect

FALINGE PARK HIGH 
SCHOOL/ LENNY BARN 
PLAYING FIELDS

various grass pitches
 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

P
age 112



rochdale.gov.uk 66

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescal
e

Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

FIRGROVE RECREATION 
GROUND PLAYING FIELDS 
AND PAVILLION

grass pitches for 
rugby league, adult 
and junior football, 
and rounders

TOWNHSIP HUB SITE
hub site for Rochdale - see separate section on 
hub sites

Sufficient capacity on site to meet demand.  
Continue with current maintenance regime and 
practices.  Improvements to be made to the 
changing rooms. Aspiration for floodlights but 
further investigation required to establish whether 
there are likely to be any planning issues.

H L S yes Council Protect

FOX PARK /SACRED 
HEART FC (PPG 17 list 
Belfield Sports Ground)

Adult football plans to improve pitches and facilities to allow 
for expansion No action required continue to monitor L 0 N/A Club protect

GREENBANK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HAMER COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HEALEY FOUNDATION 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HEYBROOK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HOLY FAMILY RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

KENTMERE ACADEMY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

KINGSWAY PARK SPORTS 
CENTRE & ATHLETICS 
ARENA

Adult Football KEY EDUCATION SITE  Develop as a hub site to supplement Firgrove for 
Rochdale township area. H M S YES School/ 

Trust Enhance

LOWER PLACE Adult Football not 
marked out  

land to be transferred into ownership of Kingsway 
Park High School

LOWER PLACE Junior Football not 
marked out   

LOWER PLACE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Mini Soccer not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

MARLAND HILL 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football 7v7
 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

MATTHEW MOSS HIGH 
SCHOOL AGP Well used for competitive play training by the 

community.  FA  standard AGP
Site has capacity for additional play.  Work with 
school to secure continued community use M L M No School/ 

Council Protect

MATTHEW MOSS HIGH 
SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

P
age 113



rochdale.gov.uk 67

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescal
e

Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

MAYFIELD SPORTS 
CENTRE Adult Football

Shared use with Rugby League felt to be 
incompatible.  Only site in the borough with 
stands and turnstiles to facilitate play in the 
higher leagues

instate mobile goal posts so facilities on site allow 
football club to meet league requirements without 
compromising use for rugby league

H L S Yes Club / 
FA Enhance

MAYFIELD SPORTS 
CENTRE Senior Rugby League KEY CLUB SITE for Rugby League Improve maintenance to improve pitch capacity.    

Funding in place to create an additional pitch H H L Yes Club Enhance

MEANWOOD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

NORDEN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

NORDEN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL various grass pitches KEY CLUB SITE for junior football

sufficient capacity on site to meet demand but 
pitches may need to be reconfigured to meet 
deficiencies in other pitch types

M L n/a Club Enhance

NORDEN CRICKET CLUB Cricket no issues no action required continue to monitor L L N/A Club protect

OULDER HILL LEISURE 
COMPLEX (WITHIN 
OULDER HILL SCHOOL 
AND COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE)

AGP
KEY EDUCATION SITE
Sand dressed AGP Full sized suitable for 
Hockey Use

Seek to secure continued community use of the 
site through formal written agreement.  This AGP 
needs to be protected for Hockey.

H 0 N/A School Protect

OULDER HILL LEISURE 
COMPLEX (WITHIN 
OULDER HILL SCHOOL 
AND COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE)

Adult Football Grass pitches of standard quality
demand can be managed on site through 
reallocated of pitches to different formats of the 
game

H 0 n/a Protect

ROCHDALE CRICKET 
LACROSSE AND SQUASH 
CLUB

cricket, lacrosse and 
football draining and new mobile nets required Recommendation to improve maintenance to 

retain quality of pitches. H L Club Enhance

ROCHDALE RUGBY UNION 
FOOTBALL CLUB 
(MOORGATE)

senior rugby union KEY CLUB SITE for rugby union

Increase site capacity through improved 
maintenance. Review joint buy in solutions.  
Support the club to develop a fifth pitch /The 
hollow

H L No
Club / 

Governi
ng body

Enhance

SANDBROOK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

SHAWCLOUGH 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

SPOTLAND STADIUM Adult Football  Professional club  

SPRINGFIELD PARK adult football
Club would like to expand and bring disused 
pitches back into use.  Need to improve 
changing facilities

Sustain quality and seek to maximise use. L L N/A Council protect

P
age 114



rochdale.gov.uk 68

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescal
e

Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

SPRINGHILL PLAYING 
FIELDS adult football club struggling with unauthorised use and 

vandalism at site Support club with on-going issues L L N/A Club 
/Council enhance

SPRINGHILL PLAYING 
FIELDS adult football   
ST CUTHBERT'S RC 
BUSINESS AND 
ENTERPRISE COLLEGE

Adult Football
 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST EDWARDS CE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST GABRIEL'S RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST JOHN'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL THORNHAM 
(Alternative listing as Great 
Howarth PF)

Junior Football 7v7

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST JOHN'S RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL AGP  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST PETER'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

STONEYFIELD 
RECREATION GROUND

Adult Football not 
marked out  

Protect through planning to meet future demand L 0 N/A Council protect

THORNHAM CRICKET 
CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE for junior cricket Unlikely to be capacity at peak times.  Club 

requires more facilities for growing youth teams H L M N/A Club protect

TOP OF THE LANE/ 
HOLLIN LANE PLAYING 
FIELDS, BAMFORD

Adult football, Junior 
football 9 v 9, Junior 
Football 7 V 7, mini 
soccer 5 v 5

KEY CLUB SITE.
Work with club and governing body to secure the 
site, to improve pitch quality and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities

M L N/A Council Enhance

WHITTAKER MOSS 
PRIMARY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

P
age 115



COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Work Programme 2017/2018 

Introduction

The Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was established by the Council at the meeting held on 19th May 2015, 
the principal role of the Committee being to bring together both the physical and 
skills aspects of economic regeneration, and the supporting work of services such as 
leisure, highways, housing and environmental services etc. that provide the 
opportunities for work and the improvement of life experiences for the Borough’s 
communities.

Areas of focus for the Committee include the scrutiny of partners or key contractors 
relevant to the remit of the Committee.

The work programme for the Committee is drawn up through consideration of the 
statutory roles of the Committee, including the ‘call-in’ or review of executive 
decisions made, budget and policy consultation, and review of service delivery, with 
scheduling reflecting the anticipated consideration of business to deliver these 
functions.  The Committee has options for developing its own agenda and can 
request further business to come forward.

In brief, these are to hold the executive to account and to maintain an oversight of 
the delivery of Council services.  This is undertaken principally through the following 
means:-

 
 Scrutiny of Executive Decisions through the ‘Call-in’ process;
 The consideration of Budget and Policy Framework proposals for 

consultative purposes;
 The consideration of a range of performance monitoring/management 

data;
 The specific consideration of individual service issues as may be specified 

by the Committee. 

The Committee’s Work Programme is prepared on the basis of known items at this
time.  Scheduling of some business remains to be determined and this is reflected in
the Work programme.  The following table highlights issues where there is either an
agreement or an anticipation that specific items may come forward.  Other issues will
be brought forward as indicated above.    

Page 116

Agenda Item 10



21st June 2017

19th July 2017

Work Programme Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Performance Monitoring  – Rochdale Safer 
Communities Partnership 

Performance management and 
monitoring

Rochdale Boroughwide Housing Final Performance monitoring at the 
end of the 5 year transfer period

Renewable Energy Scrutiny Study Group Update for information

20th September 2017

Work Programme 2017/2018 Update 
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Update Update for information

Performance Monitoring 2016/17 Registered 
Providers

Performance management and 
monitoring

Food and Feed Plan 2017/18 Performance management and 
monitoring

Playing Pitch Strategy Scrutiny of proposals

22nd November 2017

Work Programme 2017/2018 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals  
Directorate Plan Updates - 
Neighbourhoods Directorate
Economy Directorate (incorporating RDA)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Housing Allocations Scheme & Policy Scrutiny of proposals
Housing Strategy 2017-2020 Scrutiny of proposals
Environmental Enforcement Policy Scrutiny of proposals
Waste Collection Policy Scrutiny of proposals
Adverse  Weather Plan Scrutiny of proposals
Property Investment Strategy Scrutiny of proposals
GMCA Scrutiny Minutes For information/discussion

Work Programme To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme for 2017/2018

Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Discretionary Crisis Fund and Local Welfare 
Provision Year End Report 2016/17

Performance monitoring and 
management

Directorate Plan Updates -
Neighbourhoods Directorate
Economy Directorate (incorporating RDA)

Performance management and 
monitoring

GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool Minutes For information/discussion

Page 117



24th January 2018

Work Programme 2017/2018 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals 

Link4Life – Six monthly update report Performance monitoring and 
management

Directorate Plan Updates -
Neighbourhoods Directorate 
Economy Directorate (incorporating RDA)

Performance monitoring and 
management

Performance Monitoring 2017/18 –
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership

Performance management and 
monitoring

GMCA Scrutiny Minutes For information/discussion

21st March 2018

Work Programme 2017/2018 Update
Call-in/Member items/other referrals
Discretionary Crisis Fund – six month 
update report

Performance monitoring and 
management

6 monthly Performance Monitoring 
including:
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership

Performance management and 
monitoring

Directorate Plan Update:
Neigbourhoods Directorate
Economy Directorate (incorporating RDA)

Performance management and 
monitoring

Rochdale Boroughwide Housing Annual Performance Review 
GMCA Scrutiny Minutes For information/discussion

Other business to be scheduled

Rochdale Riverside funding
An Informal meeting to be convened as directed 
by the Chair in consultation with the Director of 
Economy.  

Draft Site Allocations Plan Scrutiny of proposals
Homelessness Prevention Scrutiny of proposals
Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority 

Understanding the role of scrutiny within the 
combined authority (to be considered jointly with 
Corporate and Health, Schools and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees)

Enforcement / Public Disorder 
Policy Scrutiny of proposals

Page 118


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 Performance Monitoring 2016/17 Register Providers
	Appendix 1 - RP Local Initiatives 2016/17

	8 Food and Feed Service Plan 2017- 18
	Append. 1 for Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18
	Append. 2 for Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18

	9 Playing Pitch Strategy
	Append. 2 for Playing Pitch Strategy

	10 Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017/18

